

Issues in Religion and Psychotherapy

Volume 4 | Number 2

Article 9

10-1-1978

AMCAP Journal Volume 4 Issue 2 1978

Issues in Religion and Psycotherapy

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/irp

Recommended Citation

Psycotherapy, Issues in Religion and (1978) "AMCAP Journal Volume 4 Issue 2 1978," *Issues in Religion and Psychotherapy*: Vol. 4: No. 2, Article 9.

Available at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/irp/vol4/iss2/9

This Full Issue is brought to you for free and open access by the Journals at BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Issues in Religion and Psychotherapy by an authorized editor of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen_amatangelo@byu.edu.





Editor

Robert F. Stahmann Brigham Young University

Associate Editor

D. Russell Crane

Brigham Young University

Editorial Board

Joseph L. Daly

Colorado State University

Barbara L. Fisher Purdue University

Jayne C. Garside

Brigham Young University-Hawaii

James C. Hurst University of Texas

AMCAP supports the principles of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints; however, it is an independent, professional organization which is not sponsored by, nor does it speak for the Church or its leaders.

The ideas and opinions expressed by the authors are not necessarily those of the editors, association, or of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints.

Subscriptions

Subscriptions to the AMCAP Journal are provided to AMCAP members. For information concerning membership, write to the secretary-treasurer at the address indicated below.

Change of Address

AMCAP members anticipating a change in address should forward the new address to the secretary-treasurer to ensure the accurate delivery of the AMCAP Journal and other AMCAP correspondence. For change of address and all similar membership correspondence contact:

Richard W. Johnson AMCAP Secretary-Treasurer Counseling Center C-273 ASB Brigham Young University Provo, UT 84602

Call For Manuscripts

The AMCAP Journal seeks manuscripts of interest to the broad interdisciplinary membership of the Association. Articles relating to the practice, research, or theory of counseling and psychotherapy are appropriate for the Journal. Manuscripts should generally not exceed twenty double-spaced typed pages. Style should follow the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association (2nd edition) Authors should keep a copy of their manuscripts to guard against loss. Three copies of the manuscripts should be sent to the editor:

Henry L. Isaksen AMCAP Journal Editor Ricks College Rexburg, Idaho 83440

A HISTORY OF THE ASSOCIATION OF MORMON COUNSELORS AND PSYCHOTHERAPISTS (AMCAP)

Also

Includes a Brief History of AMCAP's Predecessor
THE LDS PERSONNEL AND GUIDANCE ASSOCIATION
(LDS PGA)

Compiled by Vern H. Jensen

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE	3
PART I - A VITAL PREDECESSOR – LDS PGA	3
Early Beginnings	4
A New Title	5
Organizational Structure	
An Increase in Enthusiasm	8
PART II - A BROADER VISION – AMCAP	
A Period of Transition	11
A Name to Reflect Expansion	
Conference Planning	13
The First AMCAP Annual Convention	
Putting the Plan Into Operation	14
The Second Annual Convention	16
Reaching Solutions With the Church	17
Rounding Out the Organization	17
Strengthening the Organization	
The Third Annual Convention/Workshop	
Growth and Expansion	20
Facing New Challenges	21
Plans for the 1978 Convention	21
The Fourth Annual Convention/Workshop	21
After Fifteen Years	
APPENDIX A	25
APPENDIX B	
APPENDIX C	
INDEX	31

PREFACE

The History of the Association of Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists (AMCAP) is actually the history of two organizations. The first is a history of the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association (LDS PGA) which was a vital predecessor to the organization of AMCAP. The second is a history of AMCAP itself which came about as a result of the developments occurring during the existence of LDS PGA. In other words, without LDS PGA the history of AMCAP may have never been written. One could safely say that AMCAP came into existence as a result of the merger of one organization into another. The last officers of LDS PGA, for example, became the first officers of AMCAP. Furthermore, the general goals of the LDS PGA became the same goals of AMCAP, and the Constitution of LDS PGA served as a base for the By-Laws of AMCAP. Finally, the membership of AMCAP was simply an extension of the membership of LDS PGA rather than a change in membership, that is, AMCAP was extended to include counselors and psychotherapists who had affiliation with other professional organizations in addition to the American Personnel and Guidance Association (APGA).

Up to the present time, 1978, LDS PGA has had a much longer history than AMCAP since its history extends from 1964 to 1975; whereas the history of AMCAP dates back to only 1975. Nevertheless, there is a greater abundance of recorded sources available for these past three years than all of the twelve preceding years of LDS PGA, which accounts for the greater length of Part II. At least two major reasons account for this. First, there were no minutes of meeting kept nor Journals published during the existence of LDS PGA. Second, with the exception of the last year of LDS PGA, much more activity occurred during the three years of AMCAP's operation than in those preceding years. Minutes of meetings began to be recorded during the last year of LDS PGA while AMCAP was in the process of being organized. In the early years of LDS PGA minutes of meetings were not recorded because of the informal nature of the group. If minutes were kept during the later years when LDS PGA was formally organized with elected officers and a Constitution, they

were either destroyed or filed away where no one could find them. The only minutes that are available for LDS PGA are those taken during the last year of its existence while AMCAP was being organized. During this time minutes were recorded of executive and ad hoc committee meetings and one newsletter was sent to members of the Association.

After the organization of AMCAP the Journal became another source of information along with correspondence, the minutes for all of the meetings and regularly published newsletters. From 1964 to 1974, however, the only sources of data were letters to and from the officers, a personal journal of one member of the Association, the agendas of LDS PGA meetings printed each year in the APGA Convention Program, and interviews with individuals. Even as far as letters are concerned, there are undoubtedly a number of letters that have never been recovered. One letter of significance in particular that has not yet been found was the very first letter, copies of which were distributed by Joseph C. Bentley in 1963 to four individuals proposing a forum where LDS members of the American Personnel and Guidance Association could get together and discuss principles of the Gospel and professional concepts.

As to the preparation of this history, acknowledgement is given to the chairmen and presidents of LDS PGA and AMCAP for their effort in furnishing both recorded and verbal information. In this regard, special thanks goes to Clyde A. Parker, P. Wendell Johnson, Norma Rohde, Lynn Eric Johnson, E. Wayne Wright, Henry L. Isaksen, and Burton C. Kelly. Grateful appreciation is also extended to Burton C. Kelly, AMCAP Historian, for assigning and urging that the compiling and writing of this history go forward, to Richard Heaps, AMCAP Secretary-Treasurer, for furnishing significant and helpful information and to Cathy Buxton for her untiring efforts in offering suggestions and typing the history.

Vern H. Jensen Brigham Young University October 1978

PART I A Vital Predecessor LDS PGA

Early Beginnings

As far back as 1960 there was talk among Latter-day Saint members of the American Personnel and Guidance Association (APGA) of the formation of some type of forum where counselors who had the common bond of the principles and standards of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints could get together and share ideas about both religious and professional concepts and practices. The times and places where this theme was articulated most frequently were during the APGA Convention in the Spring of each year where LDS members of APGA gathered in informal groups either at the convention site or when they traveled to and from the convention city.

Little was accomplished beyond the talking stage until the latter part of 1963 when Joseph C. Bentley first took the initiative to pull ideas together and put them into the form of a letter. While living near Boston and teaching at Clark University, he distributed the letter proposing that such a forum be instituted and that it begin with a meeting of LDS members to be held during the time of the 1964 APGA Spring Convention in San Francisco. Those to whom copies of the letter were distributed included Henry L. Isaksen, Vern H. Jensen. Clyde A. Parker, and E. Wayne Wright. The positive response which Bentley received from the letters he sent was indicative that the time was ripe for such a meeting.

Each of the respondents not only offered encouragement but gave their support by volunteering to assist in preparing a program for the first meeting. Both Isaksen and Wright held significant offices in APGA at the time and gave assistance in getting the LDS meetings into the convention program. Bentley assumed the leadership in organizing a program for the San Francisco meeting. ¹

After suggestions had been received by the above "informal" committee. Bentley extended invitations to several LDS professionals to be participants on the program. Two separate meetings were scheduled in the Vanderbilt Room of the Fairmont Hotel, in San Francisco, one for March 26, 1964 from 2:00 - 5:00 p.m. and the other from 9:00 a.m. - 12:00 noon March 27. With respect to the program content of the meeting held Jensen reports the following in his journal:

"Thursday. March 26: Had a meeting with Clyde Parker. Henry Isaksen, and Joseph Bentley at noon to discuss matters pertaining to LDS members of APGA. Returned to the Fairmont Hotel at 2:00 p.m. for the starting of our meeting with the LDS group. There was a fairly large crowd in attendance. Victor Cline

presented his research project on religion and personality....Joics Stone and Weston Morril! also gave a formal reaction to the project.

Friday, March 27: Was back with our LDS group at 9:00 a.m. Wayne Wright presented information regarding a paper by Elder Spencer W. Kimball. Joe Christensen then presented a paper "Sin and Guilt". We then had a discussion for about an hour. "

Part of the meeting time was given to business. Several conclusions were reached at that time in terms of the direction which the LDS group should take. It was "the expectation that this would be an informal group without things like constitutions and presidents. The expectation was that we would meet at the time of APGA and the leadership for the program would be selected from someone living close to the convention site". Since the convention was to be held in Minneapolis. Minnesota in 1965, Clyde A. Parker, became the chairman for the coming year. It was further decided, at least for the time being, to simply label the informal group as LDS Members of APGA. Since the LDS meetings in San Francisco were scheduled at the end of the conference. Parker made this statement in his invitation letter to LDS members of APGA:

Some concern was expressed with regard to holding the group over past the end of the convention, and so it was decided to attempt a pre-convention meeting this year. As we gain more experience with this group, we will probably be able to settle on a definite time. For this year, at least, we will meet Sunday. April 11, 1965 beginning at 9:00 a.m." ⁶

Thus, the second annual meeting of LDS Members of APGA was held during the 1965 APGA Convention in Minneapolis on April 11 in the Taft Room at the Learnington Hotel with Clyde A. Parker presiding. A morning session was held from 9:30 a.m. - 12:00 noon and an afternoon session from 1:30 - 4:30 p.m. During the morning session BYU professor Kenneth Hardy presented a paper entitled "An Appetitional Theory of Sexual Motivation". Selby G. Clark, Portland State, and Don E. Norton, University of Minnesota, served as discussants. During the afternoon a panel discussion was conducted on the topic "Counseling Students With Moral Problems". Those who participated on the panel were Henry L. Isaksen, Lexing-

ton, Massachusetts; Burton C. Kelly, BYU; and Wesley R. Burr, University of Minnesota. Norton and Burr not only served as discussants, but also presented papers. Norton's paper was entitled "The Church Counselor and the Scriptures", and Burr's was "Certain Implications of Appetitional Theory for Counseling Those With Pre-Marital Sexual Problems". Those who were invited to attend the meeting extended beyond LDS members as indicated by the following letter:

We intend to invite not only LDS members of APGA to those meetings but members of the church in the Twin City area who hold "counseling" responsibilities in the church. In all likelihood they will not be interested in the morning session, but it is likely that a number will be interested in the afternoon session. I see this as an excellent opportunity to bridge the gap between church leadership and the profession.⁹

During the business meeting Henry L. Isaksen was designated as the new chairman, since next year's convention would be held in Washington D.C. This appointment was in compliance with the agreement that efforts would be made to select a chairman as near as possible to the convention site. At the time, Isaksen was Director of Pupil Personnel Services of the public schools in Lexington, Massachusetts.

A New Title

One of the more important developments which occurred while Isaksen was chairman was to change the label from the Meeting of LDS Members of APGA to the LDS Counselors' Conference.10 The 1966 program for the third annual LDS Counselor's Conference held in Washington D.C. was under his direction. The two sessions scheduled from 2:00 - 5:00 p.m. April 7 and 9:00 a.m. -12:00 noon April 8 were held in the Heritage Room of the Shoreham Hotel. Both sessions were given to panel discussions under the broad topic of "Matters of Concern to LDS Counselors". Panel members included Klea Worsley and Howard T. Reid, BYU; Dean C. Andrew, Southern State College, Magnolia Arkansas; Oscar G. Mink, Basic Systems, Inc., Huntington, West Virginia; Ralph C. Packard, University of Utah; Joe J. Christensen, LDS Institute of Religion, University of Utah; William L. Smith, Webster School System, Webster, New York; and Joseph C. Bentley, Clark University, Worchester, Massachusetts. 11 With the 1967 convention scheduled for Dallas, Texas, Dean C. Andrew from Arkansas was appropriately selected as chairman of LDS Counselors' Conference to follow Isaksen.

By the Fall of 1966, Dean Andrew was well underway in preparing for the Dallas meeting as indicated by the following paragraph taken from an October letter:

I sent a notice in to Mr. Robert J. Dollar, Program Chairman, requesting space for an afternoon meeting, from 2:00 - 5:00 p.m. on Thursday and an evening meeting on Thursday from 7:00 - 9:00 p.m. Vern Jensen has agreed to try to work out an interdenominational panel for Thursday afternoon. I have asked Dr. David Lloyd of Mesa, Arizona to be responsible for developing a program for our own group on Thursday night. I have also written Dale Tingey requesting that he be responsible for organizing a fireside meeting on Sunday evening. ¹²

The following also indicated that Vern H. Jensen was moving ahead after being invited to plan and organize a program for one of the 1967 sessions in Dallas:

Since receiving your letter of September 28th we have made some headway in the program I wrote you about before. We have received commitments from three persons plus the moderator which I think should give us sufficient confidence to move ahead. I am still awaiting a response from two other individuals, but if you think it is all right we could likely move ahead now; even if we only had this many to start the ball rolling. I informed the participants after receiving their consent that I felt we should plan to move ahead...

I received a good suggestion with respect to the improvement of our title. This suggestion is that we use the title 'Counseling in Church Related Colleges' rather than 'Counseling in Religious Colleges'. ¹³

Contents of the following post card sent to LDS counselors by Clyde A. Parker gives the plan and topic for a second session:

Dean Andrew suggested that I lead the discussion on Thursday night at APGA. I think we would have a useful time together if we were to focus on 'The Possibility of Honest Expression in the Church'. As background please read Cline, Menlove, and Burtenshaw in the first issue of *Dialogue*. ¹⁴

A letter from Dale T. Tingey also showed that plans were underway early for a Sunday evening fireside:

On the third weekend in March there will be a National Counselors' Convention meeting in Dallas and in this group there will be approximately 50-60 LDS counselors.

We would like to arrange to have a fireside on Sunday, March 19. Would it be possible for you to secure comfortable accommodations in one of the chapels, possibly a Relief Society room, for that evening. Also, would you arrange for some nice refreshments. We will cover the cost of the refreshments.

If your schedule permits, it might be valuable for you to be in Dallas and attend part of the convention at that time and I will arrange to meet with you also as I plan to participate. ¹⁵

The fireside mentioned in the letter was held in the Dallas Ward Chapel, 4027 Turtle Creek Blvd., Dallas, at 7:30 p.m. on Sunday March 19, 1967.

The first session of the fourth annual LDS Counselors' Conference was held from 2:00 - 5:00 p.m. on March 23 in Civic I of the Adalphus Hotel with Vern H. Jensen serving as chairman of the session. The intent of the program was to obtain views on counseling from individuals whose orientations were from different religious beliefs. Faiths represented by these counselors included Jewish, Catholic, Presbyterian, Methodist, and Mormon. Each panel member was asked "to make a fifteen minute presentation with respect to counseling in his own situation in light of his own and/or his institutions religious philosophy" with the following questions as guidelines:

- What is the nature of the relationship of your institution to the church?
- 2. To what extent does theology enter into your counseling interviews, such as quoting from the scriptures?
- 3. How is counseling theory influenced by ecclesiastical authority at your institution?
- 4. What has been your success in reconciling your counseling theory and practice with your religious philosophy?
- To what extent are the standards which govern the students of your institution prescribed or influenced by the church?
- Do you see your role as a counselor at your institution any different than it would be at a non-church related college.
- As a counselor, do you make any attempts to convey your religious values to your clients? 16

The discussants who comprised the panel included Edward Diamond, Yeshiva University, New York City; Daniel M. Boland, Holy Cross Fathers Seminary; Robert M. Stewart, Westminister College, Salt Lake City; I. Reed Payne, BYU; and Elaine M. Tracy, St. Olaf College, Northfield, Minnesota. The second session was held in the evening in Parlor D of the Adalphus Hotel with Dean C. Andrew presiding. Clyde A. Parker led the discussion as planned on the topic of "The Possibility of Honest Expression in the Church". During the business part of the meeting Joe J. Christensen was elected chairman for the coming year.

Under the leadership of Chairman Christensen, therefore, the fifth annual meeting of the LDS Counselors' Conference was held during the 1968 APGA Convention in Detroit, Michigan. Two sessions were held on April 11 in COBO Hall. The first was held from 8:30 to 10:00 a.m. The presenter for the session was P. Wendell Johnson, Director of the LDS Institute of Religion in Ogden, Utah who spoke to the subject, "Psychological Services Utilized

by the LDS Church". The second session followed from 10:15 a.m. to 12:00 noon with Harold T. Christensen of Purdue University speaking to the topic "New Morality and Personal Adjustment". A business meeting was then held until 12:30 p.m. ¹⁸

Organizational Structure

During the Detroit meeting a new development occurred. Up to this point it was the desire of LDS Counselors' Conference to have an informal organizational structure with a single officer serving as chairman. Now there was sentiment among the group to become more formally organized with a group of officers and a set of by-laws or a constitution. In anticipation of a constitution the group decided to select a set of officers for the Las Vegas Conference to be held in 1969. Joe J. Christensen was elected to be the first president of the LDS group which now became called the LDS Counselors Association instead of the LDS Counselors' Conference. This was actually a two year term for Christensen since he had served as chairman of the 1968 conference. Others preceding Christensen had also served as chairmen rather than presidents. To assist the new president, P. Wendel Johnson was elected President-Elect, Keith Checketts the Vice President, and Ralph E. Packard, Jr. the Secretary-Treasurer. 19 Vern Jensen was assigned to take the responsibility of drafting a constitution to be ready for a vote at the Las Vegas conference. Thus, a formal organizational structure was beginning to materialize.

Another first appeared as preparations were being made for the Las Vegas conference. The following excerpt from a letter by Burton C. Kelly gives the event and the details regarding the program:

By now you will have received the announcement of the first Utah Breakfast at APGA. We wish you not only to be with us, but also to present us with some points of view from out there. That is, we'd like to hear some of the new and exciting things that you are doing in the field of Counseling and Guidance and/or some of the exciting innovations that you see in the field, plus also a few of your personal feelings on being out there instead of here. We are also asking Clyde (Parker) to respond in a similar manner, with another point of view from out there and Louine Hickman, our current UPGA President to give a few thoughts on what's happening in Utah and UPGA. Inasmuch as our total time for breakfast will be only at maximum, one hour and fifteen minutes, this means that each respondent will have only five to ten minutes.20

A further exciting prospect evolved as preparations were underway for the sixth annual conference at Las Vegas. The new officers accepted the idea of inviting a General Authority of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, particularly since the convention site was now in

the West and near to the LDS Church headquarters. Thus, Elder Boyd K. Packer, Assistant to the Quorum of the Twelve, was invited to be the fireside speaker.²¹

The Sunday night fireside on March 30, 1969 was, therefore, the first meeting of the sixth annual conference of the LDS Counselors Association. The meeting was held with a capacity crowd from 8:00 to 10:00 p.m. at the LDS chapel at Tropicana Road and Burnham. The topic on which Elder Packer spoke was "The Church and the Professional Counselor". A question and discussion period followed his presentation.²²

The breakfast scheduled at 7:30 a.m. Tuesday, April 11 under the direction of Burton C. Kelly at the Comstock Room, Flamingo Hotel proceeded as planned with Vern Jensen as Master of Ceremonies and Louine Hickman. Henry Isaksen and Clyde Parker as speakers.²³ From 5:10 to 7:40 p.m. on the same day a business meeting was held in the Board of Governors Room of the Stardust Hotel with Joe J. Christensen presiding.²⁴ The major items of business were the ratification of the new Constitution and the election of officers. After drafting a constitution during January of 1969, Vern Jensen had submitted the draft to the officers of the LDS Counselors Association for their suggestions and comments. With the input from the officers the document was revised and put into final form for presentation to the members. Jensen introduced the new Constitution and after a discussion it was put to a vote. 25 Several minor amendments were made and the document was adopted with a unanimous vote. The work for a formal organization was now completed and its new name became the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association. (See Constitution in Appendix A.)

Following the business meeting, Addie Fuhriman presented a paper on "Group Processes and the Church". Lynn Eric Johnson also made a presentation regarding the "Educational Information and Guidance Center for LDS Students". ²⁶ After Johnson's presentation, "a panel of four discussed Elder Boyd K. Packer's talk which he gave during the fireside on Sunday". ²⁷

With the adoption of a new Constitution, elections were now ready to go forward on a more formal basis as follows: "The elected officers of the Association shall be the President, President-Elect, and the Secretary-Treasurer who shall constitute the Executive Committee." P. Wendell Johnson of the Ogden LDS Institute of Religion, was therefore, the first president to be elected under the new Constitution and the new organizational name, LDS Personnel and Guidance Association. Although Johnson had served as President-Elect during the past year under the old system, it was necessary that an election be held to elect a new president since the Constitution now indicated that a transition from president-elect to president was not automatic. Nevertheless, because of the experience he had had in that office it seemed appropriate that he should be nominated for president and as a consequence he was elected by acclamation. Alan R. Andersen of the University of Minnesota was subsequently elected to be the president-elect for the coming year according to the Constitution which read, "Elected officers shall assume office at the conclusion of the annual meeting of the Association and shall serve for a period of approximately one year until their successors are elected".

The site of the 1970 APGA Convention was in New Orleans and two meetings had been planned and scheduled for the seventh annual conference of the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association. The first was a fireside held from 9:30 to 11:00 p.m. in the Jung Hotel and the second was a business meeting from 5:45 to 7:00 p.m. in the same hotel with Wendell Johnson presiding. With regard to the fireside Jensen states, "We attended the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association Fireside. A Dr. Johnson (Thesba T.) was the speaker and spoke on the problem of minority groups, particularly the Negro, since she was teaching at Atlanta University". ²⁹

During the business meeting officers were elected. Alan R. Andersen automatically took over the office of the president, since he had served as president-elect during the past year, and Addie Fuhriman became the new president-elect with Ann Hamilton as secretary-treasurer.

After the business was completed, members were separated into three groups. Three presenters then rotated from one group to the other. The following quote gives some information on procedure and content as experienced by one of the presenters: "I presented my information on the influence of the Counseling Center in the Church. I gave my presentation to three different groups since we were divided up into groups". 30

Another business matter of significance was a decision by the group to have "a get-together breakfast during the October conference. It was anticipated that possible a General Authority could join with us. It was also decided that due to the 'not too plentiful budget' that each person attending the breakfast would pay his own expenses".³⁷

The suggestion for the breakfast proceeded according to plan and the event was held Saturday, October 3, 1970 at 7:30 a.m. in the Pioneer Room Hotel Utah with Addie Fuhriman, President-Elect, presiding. Elder Marvin J. Ashton, Assistant to the Council of the Twelve, spoke to the group on Church matters which were of interest to LDS Personnel and Guidance workers. At that time Elder Ashton directed the Unified Social Services of the Church which included Youth Guidance, Adoption, Indian Student Placement, Unwed Parent, Drugs, and Alcoholic Services.³² This event had considerable significance for the future of the organization because it demonstrated that a gathering of this type could be successfully held in Salt Lake City during General Conference time.

The eighth annual conference of LDS PGS was held during the APGA Convention on April 6, 1971 in Atlantic City, New Jersey. A workshop and a business meeting were held between 5:45 and 7:30 p.m. in the Marlborough-Blenheim Hotel. 33 Since Andersen was unable to be present, Addie Fuhriman, President-Elect, presided during the meeting. At the business meeting Joseph L. Daly, Colorado State University, was elected president-elect.

Another item of business was that of holding another

breakfast meeting at the October, 1971 General Conference. Comments indicated that the 1970 breakfast in Salt Lake City had been "enjoyable and worthwhile" and the group voted to move ahead with plans for a second breakfast. Thus, on Thursday, October 2, 1971, a breakfast was held in the Pioneer Room of the Hotel Utah at 7:30 a.m. with Addie Fuhriman, President, conducting the meeting. Elder Neal A. Maxwell, Commissioner of Education for the Church, spoke on matters concerning the Church Education Program.³⁴

It is of interest to note that funds were limited in the early years of LDS PGA. A financial statement shows the balance on hand for April 1, 1971 to be \$81.85, \$189.85 by November 12, 1971, but was depleted to $43\mathfrak{c}$ after the Fall breakfast. There had been talk of having some type of journal in which to include papers presented at Association conferences, but the major obstacle was that of budget.³⁵

Chicago was the site for the 1972 APGA Convention and the ninth annual meeting of the LDS PGA was conducted under the direction of the President, Addie Fuhriman on March 28. The meeting was held in the Ruby Room of the Sherman House Hotel from 5:30 p.m. to 7:30 p.m. ²⁵ "Lynn Scoresby and Margaret Hoopes (BYU) presented information on Marriage Counseling in the Church. We broke into small groups and discussed some of the problems." ³⁷ During the business meeting Norma Rohde of BYU became the President-elect and James Hurst of Colorado State University was elected secretary-treasurer.

The next gathering of the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association was not until the time of the 1973 APGA Convention, since the annual breakfast was not held during General Conference time in the Fall. The tenth annual meeting, therefore, was held on February 11, 1973 in the Royal Inn of the Wharf in San Diego, California from 6:00 to 9:00 p.m. In the absence of the President, Joseph L. Daly, the program was under the direction of Norma Rohde. President-elect. The speaker for the occasion was Victor Brown. Jr., Associate Director of L.D.S. Social Services, who spoke on the topic of "The Church and the Homosexual—Some Observations." A lengthy question and answer period followed the presentation."

A business meeting was also conducted during the same period following the presentation and discussion. It was decided to continue the breakfast in Salt Lake City at General Conference time similar to what had been done during the 1970 and 1971 October conferences. Further business included the election of officers with Lynn Eric Johnson of BYU being chosen as the new president-elect and Ramona Morris of Provo High School as secretary-treasurer

The plans for the breakfast were soon underway and members gathered for the third annual breakfast of the association in the Jade Room of the Hotel Utah on October 5. 1973 from 7:00 to 8:30 a.m. with Norma Rohde presiding.³⁹ Elder Robert L. Simpson. Assistant to the Council of the Twelve was the speaker. He had been selected for this speaking engagement because of his

responsibility as being a General Authority in charge of the Social Service area of the Church. His presentation, therefore, followed the guidelines given him by the LDS PGA officers which were geared to the following concerns: "(1) that as an LDS organization we be made fully aware of the Church Social Service programs and (2) that we as professionals be apprised as to how we could best serve the Church membership in a cooperative capacity with the Church programs".⁴⁰

An Increase In Enthusiasm

The next meeting following the third annual breakfast in Salt Lake City was held during the APGA Convention in New Orleans, Louisiana. The eleventh annual LDS PGA meeting, therefore, began at 5:45 p.m., April 9, 1974 in the Fairmont Hotel. In the capacity of President, Norma Rohde conducted the meeting. Clyde A. Parker, one of the founders of the Association, was the keynote speaker. The following quote reflects the outline of the content of the meeting:

- 1. Our keynote speaker, Dr. Parker, will challenge the membership as to some of the concerns and needs on a national as well as local level as related to our profession and organization. What kind of an impact do we as an organization need to be making—particularly in relationship to the kind of input we could give because of the uniqueness of our unifying value system? Why are we failing to make this kind of impact?—at what cost to ourselves and others?
- 2. Group participation in identifying organizational goals, barriers to reaching these goals, and concrete steps for the implementation of the goals—culminating in a direct charge to next year's president, Dr. Lynn Johnson, as to what the membership expects by way of accomplishment for this organization during the coming year.

Business meeting.⁴¹

The 1974 New Orleans meetings had a very significant impact on the future events as far as LDS Personnel and Guidance workers were concerned. Rohde had assumed the major leadership responsibility of the LDS PGA for a period of two years. Through her experience she became aware that something needed to happen in order for the organization to have any kind of impact in terms of what we had to offer the Church and the professional world. It was a point in time that the organization either had to get into or out of the "act" if it was to have any influence. It was for that reason that the program was geared to move into this issue head on and to invite Clyde Parker who was in a key position at the time to provide the necessary inputs and stimulation to get ideas flowing and an action program off the ground. The presentation and the lively discussion which followed was the beginning of the sowing of the

seed which was eventually to lead to AMCAP.

At the conclusion of the New Orleans Conference the gavel was handed to the new president, Lynn Eric Johnson. E. Wayne Wright of Utah State University was elected president-elect and Robert Peters of BYU the secretary-treasurer. Johnson was charged with implementing some of the major suggestions coming out of the meeting. As a result of the suggestions, the new officers later proposed the following as to three immediate courses of action "in line with the current constitution."

- Establishment of a newsletter to be sent semi-annually along with the mailings announcing the October breakfast and Spring conventions.
- 2. Establishment of a committee to seek and promote contributions of LDS PGA members to the counseling profession.
- 3. Establishment of a committee to receive guidance from the Church regarding ways counselors can render maximum services to Church programs.⁴²

Copies of the above three proposals were sent to members of the Association for their suggestions for a title for the newsletter, approval of the committees and suggestions of persons to serve on the committee. The response to the proposals from members of the Association was positive on all three counts. The proposals, however, were not entirely put into effect as intended, primarily because of the turn of events toward the development of a more comprehensive plan eventually leading to the organization of AMCAP. The distribution of these proposals occurred in October, 1974. By February, 1975, a ballot for proposals having much broader connotations was sent to members of LDS PGA.43 Nevertheless, one issue of the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association Newsletter did get distributed in February, 1975 which was accompanied by the Ballot for Proposals, and an ad hoc committee was appointed to consider broadening the scope of the Associ-

As late as September 1974, the thinking of the officers of LDS PGA was still to have its major thrust at the 1975 APGA Convention as indicated by a paragraph from Johnson's letter as follows:

"Our Spring meeting will be during the APGA Convention in New York City, March 23-26, 1975. Further details will be sent to you with the proposed newsletter in February. We hope you can be there." 44

This event did not materialize exactly as planned because of the same turn of events. Rather the emphasis was put on the forth-coming breakfast in October during General Conference time and on the new developments which were beginning to occur for reorganization. Thus, for the first time since 1964, the agenda for the program of the Association was excluded from the 1975 convention program of APGA held in New York City.

In spite of the exclusion of the agenda, a meeting was

scheduled and announced through the LDS Personnel and Guidance Newsletter. In order for members to be aware of a planned program, Michael Lambert, a Counseling Psychologist from BYU, had been invited to be the speaker early in the year and proposals were presented in the Newsletter for discussion during the meeting. The meeting was conducted in the P.G. Wadehouse Room at the New York Hilton Hotel from 5:00 to 6:30 p.m. on March 25, 1975. Dr. Lambert spoke to the topic, "Therapist Induced Determination". Since the group who attended the meeting was small in numbers major decision making was left to the Fall meeting.

As new developments were being anticipated, there was considerable enthusiasm among the members as the annual October breakfast was approaching. Elder Sterling W. Sill, Assistant to the Council of the Twelve, was invited to be the guest speaker. The membership of the organization now exceeded 200 members with at least 80 expected to be at the breakfast. 47 The breakfast proceeded as planned and the LDS PGA members gathered at 7:00 a.m. in the Junior Ballroom of the Hotel Utah on Friday October 4, 1974 to hear Elder Sill, a General Authority who was well known for his inspiring, eloquent and knowledgable addresses, and to conduct some matters of business.⁴⁸ Elder Sill had been asked to give "guidance on ways we can use our particular skills to build the Kingdom as well as the inspirational insights you share so beautifully".49 In addition, Elder Sill shared some of his own personal experiences with which members of the Association were able to identify. The major item of business following Elder Sill's talk was to formulate an ad hoc Committee as indicated above.

Footnotes

- Interviews with Joseph C. Bentley, Henry L. Isaksen, Clyde A. Parker, and E. Wayne Wright.
- 2 This
- Convention program (San Francisco) "Human Involvement-Gateway to the Future", Washington D.C., 1964, p. 139.
- 4. Personal Journal of Vern H. Jensen, March 26 and 27, 1964.
- Letter, Parker to Jensen, June 9, 1977, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 6. Letter, Parker to LDS members of APGA, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Convention program (Minneapolis), "Discovery, Renewal, Emergence", Washington D.C., 1965, p. 162.
- 8. Copies of Norton's and Burr's papers in AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter, Parker to Isaksen, December 21, 1964, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Convention program (Washington D.C.) "Man in the World of Society: Heritage, Statue, Promise", Washington D.C., Personnel and Guidance Association, 1966.
- Letter, Isaksen to LDS Counselors, February 23, 1966, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 12. Letter, Andrew to Isaksen, October 27, 1966, AMCAP Historical Files
- Letter, Jensen to Andrew, October 27, 1966, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 14. Post Card, Parker to Colleagues, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter, Tingey to Williams, November 4, 1966, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter, Jensen to panel members, December 8, 1966, AMCAP Historical Files.

- Convention program (Dallas) "Guidance: The Big Frontier", Washington D.C., American Personnel and Guidance Association, 1968, 1968, p. 93.
- Convention program (Detroit), "Total Awareness-Total Commitment", Washington D.C., American Personnel and Guidance Association, 1968, p. 93.
- Letter, Christensen to School Counselors in Utah, March 16, 1969, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 20. Letter, Kelly to Isaksen, March 21, 1969, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter, Christensen to School Counselors in Utah, March 16, 1969, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 22. Ibid.
- 23. Journal of Vern H. Jensen, April 1, 1969.
- Convention program (Las Vegas) Committment to Action: Total Awareness-Total Committment", Washington D.C., 1969, p. 85.
- 25. Journal of Vern Jensen, April 1, 1969.
- Letter Christensen to School Counselors in Utah, March 16, 1969, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 27. Journal of Vern Jensen, April 1, 1969.
- Convention program (New Orleans), "Focus of the Future", Washington D.C.: American Personnel and Guidance Association, 1970, pp. 37 and 39.
- 29. Journal of Vern Jensen, March 22, 1970.
- 30. Journal of Vern Jensen, March 23, 1970.
- Letter, Fuhriman to LDS counselors, September 10, 1970, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 32. [bid.
- Convention program (Atlantic City), "Human Rights: Our Concern For Change", Washington D.C., April 4-8, 1971, p. 132.

- Letter, Fuhriman to members of LDS Personnel and Guidance Association, September 9, 1971, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 35. Financial Statement, LDS PGA, March 23, 1972.
- Convention Program (Chicago), "Involved for Human Development", Washington D.C.
- 37. Personal Journal of Vern H. Jensen, March 28, 1972.
- Letter, Officers of the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association to Association members, February 6, 1973, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter, Rohde to LDS PGA members, September 7, 1973, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter. Rohde to Elder Robert L. Simpson, May 18, 1973, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter, Rohde to LDS PGA members, March 22, 1974, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter to Association members, October 3, 1974, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Ballot for Proposal to members of LDS PGA, February 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 44. Letter, Johnson to LDS PGA members, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter, Johnson to Wright, February 27, 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 46. LDS Personal and Guidance Newsletter, February-March, 1975.
- 47 Letter, Johnson to Sterling W. Sill, September 12, 1974. AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter, Johnson to LDS PGA members, September 19, 1974, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter, Johnson to Sterling W. Sill, September 12, 1978, AMCAP Historical Files.

PART II A BROADER VISION AMCAP

A Period of Transition

After the LDS PGA October breakfast of 1974 in Salt Lake City, wheels were set in motion to take steps to expand the scope of the organization to include all helping professionals. "These are primarily counselors, psychologists, psychiatrists, social workers, and other people whose work is similar to these fields." One of the first steps was to invite Henry L. Isaksen of Ricks College to serve as chairman of a committee on Professional Affairs. As a result of other developments a committee as such was never organized. Isaksen, however, served as a one-man committee. Among other things he was to become a member of the Ad Hoc Committee and met with such officials as Victor Brown, Jr. of the Church Social Services and his associates for feedback and their support.

A second step was to schedule a meeting of the Executive Committee and to invite several influential professionals in the community who were also members of the LDS Church, for the purpose of discussing "the plans and suggestions for developing the LDS Counselor Organization into a more effective forum for LDS people in various helping professions". The meeting was held on January 9. 1975. Those who joined the officers of LDS PGA were Antone K. Romney, former Dean of the BYU College of Education and a Regional Representative for the Church and Allen Bergin, Director of the Values Institute at BYU.4 These two brethren were in a position to give feedback in terms of both the Church and the profession as to the feasibility of moving further in the direction of expanding the organization. This meeting was important because it gave further encouragement for the officers to move ahead as planned.

A third step was to carry out the plans for formulating an ad hoc committee. As the planning had moved forward, it soon became apparent that such a committee would need to represent a number of orientations if the organization was extended to include other helping professions. The current officers, Lynn Eric Johnson, E. Wayne Wright, and Robert Peters, had all been elected to the office as a result of their affiliation with APGA. It now became necessary to involve LDS helping professionals who had other affiliations with such organizations as the American Psychological Association, the National Council on Family Relations, the American Association of Marriage and Family Counselors, the American Psychiatric Association and the National Association of Social Workers.

In addition to the officers, therefore, the following eventually comprised the Ad Hoc Committee: Lynn Eric Johnson, Career Education, BYU; O. Kent Berg, Division of Vocational Rehabilitation, Salt Lake City; Ronald D.

Bingham, Counselor Education, BYU; Gary Carson, Psychology, Weber State; Joe J. Christensen, Associate Commissioner of the Church Education System, Salt Lake City; Victor B. Cline, Psychology, University of Utah; Grant Hyer, LDS Hospital, Salt Lake City; Henry L. Isaksen, Assistant Dean of Academic Affairs, Ricks College; Donald Lankford, Division of Family Services, Provo; Robert J. Peters, Counselor, Career Advisement Center, BYU; Jan L. Tyler, Child Development and Family Relations, BYU; E. Wayne Wright, Counseling Psychologist, Utah State University.⁵

Immediately after the Committee was organized a meeting was scheduled by the Executive Officers for February 7, 1975. The members, including the Presidency were present except for one or two members who were unable to attend. Members of the Committee exhibited an atmosphere of enthusiasm and a spirit of cooperation as they began to fulfill a common committment. As an outgrowth of the meeting, the Presidency recommended that the members of the Association consider the following changes:

- Expand to include all helping professionals. These are primarily counselors, psychologists, psychiatrists, social workers, and other people whose work is similar to these fields.
- 2. Retain the present constitution, with only the necessary changes to accommodate this development.
- 3. Change the name to reflect the new organization. The proposed name offered by the committee is Association for L.D.S. Helping Professionals.
- Hold an annual convention in the Salt Lake City-Provo area each October preceding general conference; the first being at BYU on October 1-2, 1975, with Ron Bingham chairman.
- 5. Hold elections at that time for president-elect, secretary-treasurer, and executive committeemen comprising the disciplines represented; and possibly for areas (or district) leadership units to further the organization on local levels. The geographical units could then meet in conjunction with national conventions as well as separately.
- Move forward as a unified group to lend the strength of our beliefs and training to our respective disciplines, the Church, and each other.⁶

The recommendations were presented to the members of the Association through the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association Newsletter (the first and only newsletter produced under LDS PGA) in February 1975. A questionaire type "Ballot for Proposals" accompanied the

Newsletter in order to obtain the vote and comments from Association members. Also attached to the Newsletter was a copy of the LDS PGA Constitution with only the necessary changes written in to reflect the above proposals. Basically the changes at this point had to do only with changes in the name of the organization and the affiliation it had with the American Personnel and Guidance Association.

The response to the Ballot for Proposals was in general very positive. The negative votes and comments were directed mainly toward the title of the organization and parameters used to determine the membership in its expanded form. Although ninety-six percent of the members who responded voted to expand eht organization, the comments indicated dissatisfaction in the wording pertaining to the expansion of membership. The lowest positive vote, eighty percent, had reference to the change in name. Again the comments showed that the opposition had more to do with the name as it was worded than in negotiating a name change. These concerns were reflected in the first and third proposals having to do with expansion and the title respectively. There was considerable resistance in using the term, to "other people" as well as the name, "The Association for LDS Helping Professionals". The following are typical responses showing some of the objections:

- I agree with the idea in principle, but I have trouble with the words 'other people'. It seems too broad. To maintain identity and a sense of belongingness, we need to have more tangible boundaries. I would, therefore, suggest the last phrase read "Other professionals who have counseling responsibilities.
- This title is too all inclusive. I suggest Association of Mormon Behavioral Scientists (AMBS) or L.D.S. Behavioral Scientists (LDSBS).
- "Helping Professionals" is too broad—it would include physicians and attorneys. Suggestions: L.D.S. Consulting Professionals or Clinical, or Therapists—or L.D.S. Behavioral Professionals.

A Name to Reflect Expansion

With respect to the comments to all six proposals as a whole, however, such comments as "a great idea, excellent idea, welcome the change, sounds good," and so forth reflected the positive tenor of the members of the Association as they responded to the ballot for proposals. Another indication of the positive support was the fact that 100 percent of the members responding voted to move forward as a unified group; ninety-eight percent to hold an annual convention in the Salt Lake City-Provo area immediately preceding October General Conference; ninety-six percent to retain the present Constitution, with only the necessary changes to accommodate this the new structure; and eighty-nine percent to hold elections for 1975 at the proposed conference time. As indicated above, only eighty percent voted to change the name to "The Association for L.D.S. Helping Professionals", and

many who voted in favor did so with reservations because of the broad nature of the title. 11

The responses from the Ballot provided ample "food" for discussion for the next meeting of the LDS PGA Ad Hoc Committee which was held at the University of Utah on April 18, 1975. The first order of business was to meet the challenge of creating a more appropriate title since the proposed name, "The Association for LDS Helping Professionals" had been rejected by many members. After considerable discussion the committee resolved the problem by coming up with the name, Association of Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists (AMCAP), as a proposal for presentation to members for adoption at the convention to be held in Salt Lake City in October.

The significance of this Ad Hoc Committee meeting was obvious when considering the issues with which the Committee was coming to grips. Not only did committee members deal with a new title for the organization, but also struggled with the membership problem as contained in Article III of the proposed constitutional changes. The final resolution of this problem was left to the next Ad Hoc Committee meeting. The following excerpts from the minutes reflect other issues which also had a bearing on setting the stage for the reorganization and the eventual creation of AMCAP:

- 1. A thorough discussion was held concerning a proposed conference with workshop programs to be held in connection with October conference. It was suggested that the convention be held from Wednesday noon, October 1st through Thursday evening of October 2nd. Also that we invite a keynote speaker (a general authority) to speak Thursday morning at 9:00 a.m. with a business meeting to be held from 10:00 to 12:00. The rest of the time be devoted to workshop presentations and demonstrations which are designed to help Mormon counselors and psychotherapists. Dr. Victor Cline was authorized to make reservations and arrangements for the L.D.S. Institute on the University Utah campus. He felt this would not be a real problem.
- Henry Isaksen, chairman of the committee on professional affairs handed out a "call for programs" which
 led to several suggestions of people and topics for
 workshop presentations. This will be discussed more
 thoroughly and invitations issued to individuals for the
 October conference.
- It was discussed and decided that a thorough up-todate mailing list be completed and that the Church News, word-by-mouth, etc. are possible ways of getting the word out. All names are to be sent to Robert Peters, secretary.
- 4. It was proposed that a call for demonstration and presentation be asked for. The responses to the call would probably be a good pool for this conference and subsequent conferences where different themes are selected.
- It was proposed that the 1975 October Conference theme be 'Current Issues Facing Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists' ¹³

Conference Planning

Full attention was now directed toward the October convention. This would be a very important event. Crucial proposals would need to be presented for adoption by the membership in terms of name change and reorganization. Furthermore, it would be the first convention of its kind to be held in Salt Lake City in the Fall. Prior to this, the meeting held during General Conference time had been the early morning breakfast with the major conference being held in the Spring during the APGA Convention. Ronald Bingham of BYU and a member of the Ad Hoc Committee accepted the assignment as Program Chairman for the October Conference.

The next meeting of the Ad Hoc Committee was held at Weber State College on May 13, 1975. The more significant items considered in the meeting included the review of the tentative schedule of the October convention as reviewed by Ronald Bingham. Another matter was a charge to Henry Isaksen, Chairman of the Professional Affairs Committee, "to devise ways and means of enabling LDS counselors and psychotherapists to have a greater impact on their respective professions". An immediate task was to take time in the October convention to discuss how to write program proposals for the various professional organizations having to do with counseling and psychotherapy.14 One of the major outcomes sought was to launch a cooperative effort with "The American Personnel and Guidance Association. The American Psychological Association, The American Psychiatric Association, The National Association of Social Workers, The American Association of Marriage and Family Counselors, and other appropriate professional organizations for the purpose of re-establishing moral and responsible behavior of counselors and psychotherapists".15

In addition to the above, several other matters of business were considered. Rather than making a general call for program proposals, the committee agreed to decide themselves who they desired to present programs and then invite them to participate. Gary Carson of Weber State College was invited to be the chairman of the Nominations Committee. The Committee was charged to come up with names to be presented for a vote at the October convention. It was also agreed that names would be accepted by other members of the Association. Ronald Bingham was charged with the task of rewording the tentative conference schedule for review at the next meeting. President Lynn Eric Johnson accepted the assignment for announcing the Conference for October 1 and 2, 1975, by way of letter and other materials. ¹⁶

The next meeting of the Ad Hoc Committee was held at Brigham Young University on July 18, 1975 for the primary purpose of finalizing plans for the October Convention.

The Committee agreed that there would be a keynote speaker, a General Authority speaker, and four additional workshop presentations. A list of potential keynote speakers was developed, and Carlfred Broderick of University of Southern California was selected to be the first choice for a keynote speaker. Although he has previously declined through correspondence to participate in the conference, Ron Bingham will contact him personally to see if he will give the keynote address. (Contact was later made and Dr. Broderick agreed to be the keynote speaker.) He will speak on "Current Issues Facing Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists.¹⁷

As plans moved forward, publicity regarding the October Convention was released, through the news media and by letter. The headlines of a newspaper article for example, in *The Herald* (Provo) dated August 10, 1975, read "Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists Plan First Workshop". ¹⁸ A letter was also sent to all Association members over the signature of the President, Lynn Eric Johnson. In addition to extending an invitation to attend the "Convention-Workshop" on October 1-2, it also gave some of the background of the developments which were taking place in formulating AMCAP. The letter also outlined a series of plans for the future of the organization as follows:

- Expansion of the original organization to include professionals engaged in counseling and psychotherapy.
- Renaming the organization to indicate this change. The suggested name is: Association of Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists (AMCAP).
- Unification of these members on a National and geographic basis for maximum contact and impact upon their respective professions.
- Professional research, reports, and activities that willpresent L.D.S. values before National professional programs.
- 5. Offering the strength of the organization to our Church leaders for the building of the Kingdom.
- Development of programs for continued professional growth among the members.¹⁹

The First AMCAP Annual Convention

The fruits of the labors of those who faithfully and diligently prepared for the First Annual Convention of the Association of Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists (AMCAP) began to materialize as members gathered on October 1, 1975, for two days of meetings at the University of Utah LDS Institute of Religion. The theme of the Convention Workshop was "Current Issues Facing Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists". The scriptural basis supplementing the theme was:

"The steps of a good man are ordered by the Lord;

And he delighteth in his way.

Though he fall, he shall not be utterly cast

For the Lord upholdeth him with his hands." (Psalms 37:23-24)

Lynn Eric Johnson, President, called the convention to order at 1:00 p.m. After extending a word of welcome to the members, he introduced Carlfred B. Broderick, Professor of Sociology and Executive Director of the Marriage and Family Counseling Program at the University of Southern California in Los Angeles, for the keynote address. Dr. Broderick's topic was "New Wine in New Bottles: The Contemporary Counselor in the Contemporary Church". The keynote address was followed by a presentation entitled "How to Make a Good Marriage Great: The Art of Effective Marriage Counseling". The presentation was in the form of a panel with G. Hugh Allred and Terrence D. Olson, both Associate Professors of Child Development and Family Relationships at BYU. participating. Dr. Allred also served as chairman in preparing and conducting the panel.

The afternoon program was climaxed with an address by Bishop Vaughn J. Featherstone, 2nd counselor in the Presiding Bishopric of the Church. He addressed his remarks to the topic of "Transgression". As a sidelight to his address, Bishop Featherstone reminded AMCAP members of their awesome responsibility because they are "doing probably what the Savior spent His whole life doing, in just a little different way. You are healing souls".

The second day's activities began at 7:00 a.m. on October 2, with the traditional breakfast. Elder Victor L. Brown, Jr. spoke on the topic of "Truth, Sin, Guilt, Punishment, and Redemption".²⁰

The business meeting was the next item on the agenda for the Convention. This was a very significant meeting with the major proposals for the formulation of AMCAP to be presented to the members. The following proposals, therefore, were presented for a "yes" or "no" vote:

- It is proposed that the name LDS Personnel and Guidance Association (LDS PGA) be changed to Association of Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists (AMCAP).
- It is proposed that the current LDS PGA President-Elect, Dr. Wayne Wright, assume office as President of AMCAP.
- It is proposed that a president-elect and a secretarytreasurer be elected for AMCAP.
- 4. It is proposed that the current Ad Hoc Committee continue to serve as Executive Committee for twelve months, and perform the following assignments:
 - a) Develop a proposed organization plan, and submit the plan to the membership of AMCAP on or before next year's convention.
 - Develop a proposed slate of officers, and submit the ballot to the AMCAP membership on or before next year's convention.
 - c) Develop a proposal for the organization and implementation of standing committees, viz., professional affairs, Interorganizational affairs, and Church affairs, and submit to the AMCAP membership on or before next year's convention.
 - d) Select area representatives who can serve temporarily to gather information about prospective

- AMCAP members and needs in the following areas: New England, New York, Southern States, Mid-West, Arizona, So. California, No. California, North-West, Alaska, and Hawaii.
- e) Prepare next year's convention/workshop.
- 5. It is proposed that a newsletter be created to inform the membership of current AMCAP, National, and other news; and other matters of interest, i.e. research, collaboration requests, research results, convention dates, employment needs and opportunities, etc.²¹

All five proposals were passed by members at the convention. E. Wayne Wright, who had been assuming the office of President-Elect of LDS PGA now became the new President of AMCAP. Wright, therefore, was the first president to act for AMCAP in its official capacity as an organization. Lynn Eric Johnson had assumed the leadership in the monumental task of making the transition and had served as president while proposals were being made for the organization by the Ad Hoc Committee.

It now became the task of the members to cast their ballots for the other officers. Henry L. Isaksen, who had served as chairman of LDS PGA in 1966, was elected President-Elect of AMCAP. Isaksen was now at Ricks College and was in a good location to assume the key leadership position in 1976. Gary Carson, Weber State College, became the new secretary-treasurer.

After the business meeting, Isaksen gave a report on professional affairs. Three presentations/workshops were conducted during the afternoon. Two presentations were given on the topic of homosexuals. Robert D. Card, Clinical Psychologist in private practice, presented an address entitled "Counseling the Homosexual in a Private Practice Setting", and Robert L. Battner, Special Assistant to the LDS Commissioner of Personal Welfare in Salt Lake City, spoke to the subject "Counseling the Homosexual in a Church Setting". Following these presentations, Victor B. Cline, Professor of Psychology at the University of Utah, made a presentation on "How the Mass Media Effects Our Values and Behavior". 22 Addie J. Fuhriman, Associate Professor of Educational Psychology at the University of Utah, served as Chairman and moderator of a panel of individuals invited from various situations within the LDS community to treat a timely subject, "Counseling the Single Adult". The panel members were: Ellen Barr, a recent convert who was attending BYU; Larue Petty, an employee of Zion's Bank in Spanish Fork; and Irv Lindsey, a widower working in the Family Consultation Center at BYU. * *

Putting the Plan Into Operation

With the First Annual Convention behind them and after experiencing the elation of congratulatory messages reflecting the success of the meetings and workshops, the Executive Officers with the Ad Hoc Committee set about to put into operation the many suggestions and charges growing out of the convention. One of the first tasks was to develop a newsletter to accomplish a variety of purposes:

(1) It would serve as a media for communicating matters of interest to members, (2) it could provide a means for exchanging information and collaborative research, (3) it could include news items to which members could respond professionally, (4) it would provide for the sharing of employment desires and opportunities, and (5) it would provide a means of informing members of new developments and oncoming events.

A second concern was to obtain accurate addresses and rosters of members and potential members. The current membership was drawn previously from the roster of LDS PGA members. Now, there was a need to obtain a roster of potential members from such other disciplines as social work, psychology, marriage and family counseling, psychiatry, school counseling, and so forth. Thirdly, there was the task of identifying and recruiting potential area coordinators in geographic regions throughout the United States. A fourth project which had already received considerable attention but still had much left to be done was to make further changes in the original Constitution to bring it in harmony with new developments, particularly those parts of the By-Laws having to do with membership. A fifth task was to get the Convention talks transcribed, printed and distributed to members at a minimum cost. Even though the organization was solvent, a sixth concern was to consider optional ways to increase the financial base since the annual dues had been previously only \$2.00. Finally, plans for the Fall Convention of 1976 needed immediate attention as high quality programs were to be maintained as they had been in 1975.24

Indeed, the time was ripe for launching an expanded organization to meet the challenges of being an influence in helping to stem the tide of the liberal positions taken by a number of professional organizations in terms of presentations at conventions and professional publications. One example where such a challenge was made pertained to a letter sent to the Editor of the APGA Personnel and Guidance Journal by Gary Carson. The challenge was directed toward the March 1976 issue of the Journal which in the opinion of some AMCAP members was "unprofessional and bordered on obscenity". 25 Guidelines to meeting these and similar challenges were submitted by the Ad Hoc Committee to members of the Association through the August 1976 issue of the AMCAP Newsletter. These goals including the areas of professional, interorganization, and Church affairs and encouraged members among other things to take an active role in their respective professional organizations; to be involved in professional research writing and publications which support LDS standards and values; to establish better communications systems with all LDS professionals; and "to share the expertise of their respective professions with each other to edify all members". The goals also charged AMCAP to "offer its services to the Church to serve in ways the Church leaders deem desirable"; to receive direction and guidance from Church leaders; and to "urge members of AMCAP to live the Church's standards".26

Working under the handicap of time, the officers of AMCAP continued the further implementation of the

assignments which had been outlined. One of the first was to bring the By-Laws in harmony with the policies and procedures of the new organization.²⁷ The old Constitution of the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association served as a base but there were differences in the organizational structure which needed to be built into the new set of By-Laws. The major changes reflected the expanded nature of the organization. This included an extension of the membership, the creation of a governing board, the addition of standing and ad hoc committees, and an increase in the number of ad hoc committees. (See Appendix A and B for additional comparisons.)

A second major task was to publish the October Convention Addresses. Since the organization was to have a journal, it seemed advisable to have each address reported in the journal. Thus, the first AMCAP Journal was soon published containing the Convention report for October 1975. The contents included editorial comments, AMCAP executive notes, and addresses of the participants. Don Lankford was appointed as the first editor of the Journal with Flodie Lucretia Brown, Lynn Eric Johnson, I. Reed Payne, and Lynn Tyler as the first Editorial Board.²⁸

The next assignment was to get a newsletter printed and distributed. It was decided that the format of the newsletter should include a President's page, Editorial notes, news from area coordinators, critical concerns from literature or professional meetings, employment opportunities, and executive committee action.29 The first AMCAP Newsletter, therefore, was issued in August 1976 and distributed to members of the Association. The Newsletter included the President's Report; three statements on "What AMCAP Means To Me", by Gary Carson, Henry L. Isaksen, Don Lankford, a statement of purposes and goals; a "Challenge to the APGA Journal" by Gary Carson; the By-Laws; and an attached membership application. The AMCAP Editorial Committee responsible for getting the Newsletter published were Flodie Brown, Lynn Eric Johnson, Don Lankford, and Lynn Tyler. 30

With the 1976 Convention approaching the Ad Hoc Executive Committee preparations gathered momentum as the group met on June 17.31 Jan L. Tyler had been appointed Program Chairman and had been doing some planning since the first of the year. Such national figures as Paul Harvey had been considered as possible speakers for the 1976 Convention.32 It was now time, however, to start firming up committments for keynote speakers. A number of prominent local individuals were discussed during the June meeting and by mid July most of these commitments had been made along with those to serve on panels. A rough outline of the program schedules was presented to the Ad Hoc Committee during the July meeting with only a few minor details yet to be carried out.33

As plans were moving forward for another convention, future newsletters and the AMCAP Journal, it became obvious that dues would need to be increased in order for the organization to remain solvent. The \$2.00 dues were now inadequate in spite of the increase in membership. Some committee members during the June meeting suggested as much as \$20.00 per member, but the committee

eventually approved \$5.00 for regular membership and \$1.50 for students.³⁴ The 1976 Convention fees were set at \$2.00 for members with students and spouses paying \$1.00.³⁵ At the business meeting of the 1976 Convention, dues were again raised, this time to \$10.00 for professional and associate membership and \$5.00 for student membership.³⁶

A fifth task was to organize a Governing Board in conjunction with Article III, Section 7 of the By-Laws. One of the major items of business during the July 15, 1976 Ad Hoc Executive Committee Meeting was to discuss the activation and functions of the Board.³⁷ During the August meeting of the committee. Lynn Eric Johnson was charged with selecting names of persons who could be presented at the business meeting of the 1976 Annual Convention.

A final major assignment of the officers was to establish a regional organization with area coordinators appointed in various parts of the United States. This was discussed in the Ad Hoc Committee in August. The first action was taken by E. Wayne Wright when he appointed the first four area coordinators in September 1976. His first charge to these individuals is as follows:

An immediate need is for us to identify counselors and therapists in various disciplines and get an accurate, current roster of interested persons and/or members: We will also want you to consider ways the area coordinators can best help promote membership, regional meetings. state or regional chapters, or whatever seems feasible in your respective areas to promote our goals and unified efforts.⁵⁹

Those who were eventually appointed to serve as the initial area coordinators along with the respective states where they live are as follows: Richard Bashaw, California: Steve Bunnell, Washington; Alice T. Clark, North Dakota: Larry D. Droughan, Arizona: J. Richard Fletcher, California; E. Brent Frazier, New Hampshire, Jayne G. Garside, Hawaii; James C. Hurst, Texas; Richard Dean Yancey, Idaho; and Albert Dean Byrd, Maryland. 40 During the AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting on December 28, 1976, all of the above names were cleared by the Board and letters were subsequently sent to invite their services.41 Three functions to be performed by the area coordinators were summarized as follows: "(1) identify potential members in your area and invite them to join AMCAP. (2) hold meetings of members in your area, (3) serve as a communications link with the officers". 42

The Second Annual Convention

Under the direction of President E. Wayne Wright the Second Annual AMCAP Convention/Workshop proceeded according to plan on September 29-30, 1976, at the LDS Institute, University of Utah. The theme, "Current Issues Facing Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists", was maintained as it had been instituted during the First Annual Convention. Three prominent individuals from the

local area delivered addresses during the two day conference. The keynote speaker was Henry B. Eyring, President of Ricks College, who spoke to the subject, "What's happening in the Kingdom: Implications for Counselors". Elder Wendall J. Ashton, Managing Director of the Department of Church Communications, was the dinner speaker for the evening of September 29. The title of his address was "The Image Building Program of the Church". Finally, Elder Hartman Rector, Jr., First Council of the Seventy, was the pre-breakfast speaker for the morning of September 30. He spoke to the topic "Keeping the Kingdom Clean". ⁴³

In addition to these addresses three separate panels discussed pertinent issues. On the first day Henry Isaksen served as moderator of a panel entitled, "Latter-day Saints As a Subculture: Our Survival and Impact Upon the American Culture", with Lowell Bennion, Joseph Bentley, Merritt Egan, and Margaret Hoopes as panel members. On the second day the topic "Changing Views and Status of Women: Implications Within the Church and the Professions", was discussed by J. Joel Moss, Moyne Oviatt, and Jan L. Tyler. The third panel followed during the afternoon with Grant Hyer, Maxine Murdock, and Elvin Tanner addressing themselves to "Confidentiality and Priviledged Communication: Our Responsibilities Within the Dual Roles as Church Members and Professionals". 44

Other convention activities included entertainment by Blaine and Lee Vance followed by rotating discussion groups and a business meeting. Matters of business included voting for amendments to the By-Laws, election of officers, discussion of publications, area coordinators, and area meetings.⁴⁵

During the meeting, the members gave their sanction to the By-Laws with a passing vote. The first set of AMCAP By-Laws had appeared in the August 1976 issue of the Newsletter. 46 The intent was to present them in order to get a reaction from the membership before the October Convention. As a result of the reactions, several changes and additions were made, particularly those in Article II having to do with membership. 47

A second major order of business was to elect the new officers. Burton C. Kelly, Director of the Counseling Center at BYU, became the new President-Elect, and Richard A. Heaps, BYU, Secretary-Treasurer. The new By-Laws indicated that Governors would "serve three years in a rotating basis; the year of the adoption of these By-Laws, two will be elected for a one-year term, two for a two-year term, and two for a three-year term. 48 Thus, the first group members of the AMCAP Governing Board were elected at this meeting. Those elected for the oneyear term were Margaret Hoopes, BYU, and Victor B. Cline, University of Utah; those for a two-year term were Delbert Pearson, Psychiatrist in private practice, Provo; and Don Lankford, Division of Family Services, Provo; those for a three-year term were Myrle Ruesch, Gila County Schools, and Richard D. Berrett, California State University at Fresno.49

Reaching Solutions With the Church

When an organization begins to grow, expand and to have an impact it is bound to have its problems, its challenges. The launching of AMCAP was no exception. While the organization was small and under the title "LDS Personnel and Guidance Association", there were no questions raised about the title of the organization. As the impact of AMCAP was beginning to be felt, however, there arose concern about the word "Mormon", in the title. A question for example, was raised by the Church Law Department as to whether or not the use of such a word might be appropriate. The following quote from a letter sent by the Law Department illustrates the concern:

Having reacted positively to all that I have seen with reference to your association, I do bring you one question. In an accompanying memorandum to the newsletter sent to this office, the Presiding Bishopric questioned the wisdom of the use of the term "Mormon" in the title of your association. It would appear to some that the word "Mormon" in your title would give an improper impression of Church sponsorship. While everything that I have seen or have had brought to my attention about your organization is praiseworthy, it does not follow that your association's methods and techniques and organization are sponsored by the Church.

I would, therefore, ask that you consider this matter with your executive committee, to see if it cannot be concurred that the association's name may be misinterpreted.⁵⁰

The problem was brought to the attention of the Brethren as a result of an article that appeared in *The Salt Lake Tribune* under the headline, "Mormon Counselors Seek to Change Image of Church". It quoted several who had spoken at the October Convention. In essence the quotes implied that "members of the LDS Church have not been sufficiently involved in group and community affairs". The article brought a reaction from the Church Public Communications Department suggesting that the article was in poor taste for the image of the Church.

The Department suggested that a meeting be scheduled with AMCAP Officers to discuss "ways in which your excellent organization can handle its meeting in relationship to the news media in the future in the interest of enhancing the image of the Church". 52

By February, 1977, the problem in connection with the title had been resolved in favor of AMCAP's desires. Approval was given after a visit to the Law Department as well as a few telephone conversations and some correspondance. Those who had been members of both LDS PGA and AMCAP had for obvious reasons a desire to identify themselves as Latter-day Saints or Mormons, but by the same token they did not in any way wish to embarrass the General Authorities of the Church. Approval to use the word "Mormon" was given on condition

that a disclaimer appear near the Masterhead on all AMCAP correspondance and publications.⁵⁴ The following disclaimer was adopted: "AMCAP supports the principles and standards of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints; however, it is an independent, professional organization which is not sponsored by nor does it speak for the Church and its leaders".⁵⁵

Further reconciliations were reached when AMCAP President, Henry L. Isaksen, and former AMCAP President, E. Wayne Wright visited Elder Wendal J. Ashton, Managing Director of the Public Communications Department. "Brother Ashton suggested that AMCAP communications and speakers should always present materials as though the press is present and will use such material. Whenever concerned about possible misquotation, they should speak off the record." ⁵⁶

Rounding Out the Organization

Much had been accomplished during the October 1976 Convention to add many of the finishing touches to the organizational structure of AMCAP. The new Constitution had been approved, a Board of Governors had been elected and a new set of officers had been installed. With the conference out of the way, the officers could now turn attention to some loose ends yet to be handled. The Editorial Board needed to be solidified and there was a need for establishing more definite editorial policies and procedures for AMCAP publications. Committee assignments also needed to be carried out and an up-to-date directory of the members seemed a necessity along with more effective methods for maintaining the directory. Finally, the nomination and election procedures needed to be spelled out.

Although a temporary Editorial Board had been established for publishing the first AMCAP Journal and Newsletter, it was not until the Spring 1977 that the board was actually solidified with Don Lankford and I. Reed Payne as Associate Editors; Wesley W. Craig, Jr., Lynn Eric Johnson, and V. Lynn Tyler as board members; and Flodie Lucretia Brown as student representative. ⁵⁷ By September 1977 an Editorial Policy was adopted which reads as follows:

- AMCAP will seek to publish articles that:
 - •are distinctively concerned with or relative to LDS counselors and psychotherapists.
 - are authored by members of the Church and not apt to be published elsewhere.
 - have been published elsewhere but are of such distinctive quality and importance as to warrant republication by AMCAP.
- AMCAP will not publish material which, in the opinion of the Editorial Board, might be construed as questioning, taking issue with or contradicting established doctrine of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints.
- 3. Each issue of the journal will include, near the title on the outside cover, the following statement:

AMCAP supports the principles and standards of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints; However, it is an independent, professional organization which is not sponsored by nor does it speak for the Church or its leaders.'

It will also include, in an appropriate place, the following statement:

'The ideas and opinions expressed by the authors are not necessarily those of the association or of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints.' 58

When the AMCAP Executive Committee met on December 3, 1976 it recommended that the following individuals be appointed to chair various committees as follows: Burton C. Kelly, Historian; E. Wayne Wright, Elections; Richard A. Heaps, Membership; Don Lankford, Publications; and Victor Cline and Myrle Ruesch, AMCAP Convention. The appointments were then approved by the Governing Board when it met during the latter part of the same month. During the meeting each committee chairman gave a progress report regarding his or her responsibility. So

To facilitate the process of maintaining membership records, a computerized directory system from computer cards was adopted. Richard A. Heaps, Secretary-Treasurer, was charged with putting the system into operation.⁶¹ Methods were also devised for inviting those who were not members to become members and for collecting dues from those who were members. By December there were approximately 225 individuals who constituted the current paid membership and "approximetely 500 additional names currently identified as potential members."52 During this period, members of the association were informed by letter of the three basic membership categories which included the (1) professional member, a member of the Church who had professional experience and training in one of the branches of counseling and psychotherapy and who was willing to declare his/her commitment to the principles of the Church; (2) a student member, a student involved in a formal program of professional training in counseling and psychotherapy, and otherwise eligible as in (1) above; and (3) Associate member, a person who need not be a member of the Church or be in the counseling or psychotherapy profession, but must subscribe to the purpose of the Association and may not vote or hold office. 63

The By-Laws specified that there would be an Election Committee to "select candidates, prepare ballots and conduct the election". but it did not spell out the procedures by which this was to be done. In January 1977 the Executive Committee considered the matter and charged the Election Committee to have the procedures for the 1977 convention ready to announce in the next Newsletter in order to meet a deadline for the nomination of officers by April 15, 1977. Some of the major features of these procedures were as follows: (1) elections would be conducted at the annual conventions, (2) nominations would be selected from the membership at large with all members urged to nominate professional members in good standing, (3) the Elections Committee would prepare a slate of

nominees and would contact these individuals to determine their willingness to serve, (4) nominations would not be accepted from the floor, since all members would have had an opportunity to nominate proposed candidates by mail, and (5) absentee ballots would be available and would be sent upon request to members unable to attend the convention.⁶⁵

Strengthening the Organization

With the organizational structure completed, the officers of AMCAP could now turn more of their attention to that of making improvements and seeking for quality. A major issue that needed attention was AMCAP's relationship to the Church on the one hand and the professions on the other. This issue had begun to surface as the Executive Committee and the Governing Board deliberated on the Editorial Policy. Some of the major issues involved were presented by E. Wayne Wright, former AMCAP President. The global issue appeared to be whether AMCAP should be primarily a spiritual and religious affiliation of professionals whose point of view was in harmony with Church doctrine and leaders, or only a professional affiliation of LDS practitioners which would provide another open forum for discussion of social issues from a professional point of view. Wright's further concern was that unless AMCAP were to maintain a unique purpose with regard to social-professional concerns, there would be "no point in having just another professional association to maintain financially".86

The Executive Officers were inclined to support the purpose that "AMCAP" publications should be to support Gospel principles and facilitate the implementation of those principles in our professional lives", and that the "Editorial Board should consider articles for publication both prayerfully and carefully". 67 One of the consequences of this point of view was a policy stating that convention addresses may or may not be published. This was to allow the Publications Committee "a greater freedom and avoid potentially embarrassing situations". It was conceded the keynote and General Authorities addresses would be published following each convention. 68

A second matter for attention was given to the Directory of Members. Improvements had already been made with the distribution of a computer printed membership list. Concerns were raised, however, with regard to agencies which wanted the list for various reasons—for example, to determine the area where LDS psychotherapists were living. The following guidelines were established in handling such requests:

- That only professional members be listed or, if the total list were to be sent that recipients attention should be called to the different types of member categories;
- That a disclaimer be sent with each request to the effect that the specialty of the professional members is not given and we are not aware of such in many cases, and that we are neither recommending nor endorsing

- any of the members to the recipient; and
- That the cost for preparing such requests be carefully determined and an appropriate charge be levied for such."⁶⁹

A major goal of AMCAP was to offer its members as many benefits as possible. One of these had to do with Continuing Education credit for state relicensure. Many members were living in states where psychiatrists and psychologists were required to obtain Continuing Education credit in order to renew their licenses. Since the AMCAP Convention/Workshop type program was of an educational nature, Victor Cline was charged by the Governing Board to investigate whether the convention might be acceptable for Continuing Education credit.70 In reporting to the AMCAP President, Cline indicated that the convention would qualify for credit for both Utah physicians and psychologists. With regard to other states, however, he was unable to provide information. He did recommend that AMCAP "provide a form which would be signed by members of our Association for out of state professionals which might provide proper documentation for them".71

Another way in which AMCAP made an effort to accommodate members was to obtain a tax exempt status for the membership dues. President Isaksen was given the assignment to contact the Internal Revenue Service to make an official request.72 By the June meeting of the Governing Board the request was approved for deducting dues, but contributions were not deductable. 73 Thus, some headway had been made with IRS, but there was still more to do with respect to contributions as far as members were concerned. In addition to working out agreements relating to membership, AMCAP officers were faced with obtaining IRS cooperation in bulk mailing to members. AMCAP had been denied a bulk mailing permit as a non-profit organization because of its IRS classification as a "Business League".74 Eventually a 3rd class bulk mailing permit was obtained which reduced bulk mailing costs by approximately one-half. Other changes in the IRS classification continued to be pursued.75

A fourth matter of attention was to encourage members of various professions to do what they could to have an impact on their respective professional organizations. One way was to hold an AMCAP meeting for members at the annual conventions of each of the professional organizations. Of course this was the major thrust for the LDS-Personnel and Guidance Association prior to the organization of AMCAP. Nevertheless, meetings now under the direction of AMCAP continued to be held at the APGA Conventions. Plans, therefore, moved forward again for another meeting during APGA time. Two AMCAP meetings were held at Dallas, Texas in March. At one of the meetings a 30 minute slide/sound presentation on AMCAP was presented which brought a positive reaction from the few members who were present. With respect to the small attendance, "it was thought that the smallness in numbers was largely due to mailing problems" 76

The Third Annual Convention / Workshop

The Convention Committee, Victor B. Cline and Myrle Ruesch, was well into planning by the first of the year. As a matter of fact, an outline for the proposed 1977 convention was in the hands of the officers and Governors by the early part of February. The place, time, and food arrangements had been made. The following scriptural theme had been chosen: "When we are in the service of your fellow beings, we are only in the service of your God". (Mosiah 2:17.) A keynote speaker had been suggested and several General Authorities had been considered as possibilities.⁷⁷ At the meeting of the Board of Governors in April, President Spencer W. Kimball had been recommended as a speaker for the 1977 convention. 78 He was, therefore, invited to speak, and accepted the invitation. On further consideration, however, because of heavy committments during General Conference time, he indicated by a letter dated May 27, 1977 that he would need to decline. He did, however, express his willingness to speak to AMCAP members at a different date. The letter, which he typed himself, is quoted here as follows:

I am writing in further reference to your letter of April 12, 1977, and my reply of April 22 responding to your invitation to speak to your members and the Board of Governors of AMCAP.

As I indicated to you in my letter, it would be a great pleasure to meet with you and speak briefly to your group. As you pointed out in your letter, your convention is presently scheduled two days before our October Seniannual General Conference, and this is, of course, one of the busiest times of the whole year (although it is difficult to tell one busy day from another). On the day of your convention, Thursday, September 29, I will be meeting all day in the Temple with the other General Authorities. By the time that day comes to a close, I fear that I will be in no condition to do justice to a speaking engagement. The next day, Friday, the 30th, we will have an all-day seminar for approximately 150 Regional Representatives of the Twelve who come from all parts of the world for instruction. Then, of course, Saturday and Sunday will be our General Conference.

Again I say I will be glad to meet with and talk to your group, but I am wondering if we can make it another date when my time will be freer and I would be able to do a better job for you. I am just afraid that the September 29th date is not practical for me and will not work out.

With kindest wishes.

With preparations now complete, over 300 people gathered from various locations to attend the Third Annual AMCAP Convention/Workshop at the Institute of Religion on the University of Utah Campus in Salt Lake City on September 29 and 30. The Convention was called to order by AMCAP President Henry L. Isaksen at 1:30 p.m. of the first day. Those attending included counselors, psychologists, social workers, psychiatrists, chaplains, and others from throughout the nation and the world.

There were four major addresses given during the Convention. An unforgettable inspiration talk was given by Elder Marvin J. Ashton, of the Council of the Twelve, who delivered the "General Authority Address" during the evening banquet of the first day. In his remarks he said:

I endorse your worthy reason for existence. I commend you for uniting in a cause that's worthy and a cause that's just, and uplifting as you associate with each other in a common bond of the Gospel of Jesus Christ. I hope that your association will not only endure, but fulfill the dreams and hopes that you have for it.⁸⁰

The keynote speaker, Dr. Allen E. Bergin, BYU Psychologist, and Director of the Institute for Studies in Values and Human Behavior, spoke to the title "In Behalf of a Revealed Approach to Counseling".⁸¹

Dr. Henry L. Isaksen addressed the group in his capacity as AMCAP President. His address centered around a declaration of belief concerning the divinity in the Church and the importance of applying the principles of the Gospel in assisting clients.⁸²

Harold C. Brown, Commissioner of LDS Social Services was the speaker at the pre-breakfast meeting held on the second day. "Brother Brown counseled the group that it is not enough for LDS professionals to be 'in the world' we must set standards for living because we have the Gospel. He advocated that we continually sharpen our professional skills and utilize them in harmony with our religious values." 83

Four panels were also conducted during the convention. "How to Help People Cope With Being Single in the Church" was the first panel. Those participating included Blaine Porter, BYU; Julie Christensen, University of Utah; and Heber Robertson, Veterans Administration Hospital, Salt Lake City. The second panel was entitled "Treatment Strategies for LDS Marriages that are in Trouble" with McLaren Ruesch, Family Physician, Globe, Arizona; Christine Durham, Attorney in private practice, Salt Lake City; and Dean Hepworth, University of Utah. Those who participated on the third panel entitled "Frequent Behavior Syndromes and Problems seen in LDS Children: What to Do?" were Allen Procter, LDS Social Services, Delbert Pearson, Psychiatrist in private practice, Provo, Utah; and Tony LaPray, Psychologist in private practice, Salt Lake City. Those on the fourth panel were David Dangerfield, Murray Jordan, Mental Health Center; Mason Redd, Psychiatrist with LDS Hospital; and Courtney Black, Psychologist in private practice, Salt Lake City.84

There were a number of items considered during the

business meeting, the concluding session of the convention. Gary L. Carson, Chairman of the Counseling Center, Weber State College, was elected President-Elect. Richard A. Heaps, BYU, was re-elected Secretary-Treasurer. LeRoy E. Porter, Director of Pupil Personnel Services for the Redwood City School District, was elected as a new member of the Governing Board. Porter replaced Victor Cline who had completed his term of office on the Board. Margaret Hoopes of BYU, who had been serving on the Board was re-elected to a three-year term. Burton C. Kelly of BYU, who had served as President-Elect during the past year, now succeeded Henry Isaksen as the new AMCAP President. As past President, he continued as a member of the Governing Board and E. Wayne Wright retired from the Board.

Growth and Expansion

There was now ample evidence that AMCAP was a dynamic, growing organization. One of the major indications of this vitality was the growth in membership. For example, there were 335 dues paying members of the Association by June 1977, 86 347 by August, 87 357 by the last of September, 88 and 428 by June 1978.89 Further indications of the growth in the organization was the increase in attendance at the annual convention. At the Third Annual Convention in October 1977, approximately 302 people attended the convention which included both member and non-member registrants. During the days of LDS Personnel and Guidance Association an attendance of 50 to 60 persons at a convention was considered a large crowd and the total membership clustered around 125. A goal was set to increase the membership to 600 during the coming year. 90 It was, therefore, recommended that a larger facility be provided for the Fourth Annual Conven-

A second indication of expansion was the increase in the number of area coordinators and the encouragement for them to become more active in developing regional AMCAP activities. In addition to the ten area coordinators who were previously appointed plans were soon underway to appoint additional coordinators. Bonnie Gustafeson was appointed coordinator to the Salt Lake City area, Charles Madsen to the Southeast United States, Gilbert Kocherhans to the Northwest United States, Garth Allred to Southern Utah, and Weston Morrill to North Central Colorado. 2

A third indication was the decision to expand the responsibilities of Governing Board members by delegating special assignments. The responsibility of next year's convention was given to Richard Berrett and Gary Carson, a Professional Information Questionnaire to LeRoy Porter, membership to Richard Heaps, elections to Henry Isaksen, publications to Don Lankford, By-Laws to Del Pearson, and Burton Kelly to serve as Historian. Although not a board member, Vern Jensen was requested to serve as Assistant Historian with the specific assignment of writing a history of AMCAP.⁹³

Facing New Challenges

By the Winter of 1977-78 four issues of the AMCAP Journal had been published, one for each year since AMCAP was organized in 1975. A number of AMCAP Newsletters had also been printed and distributed to members of the Association. Don Lankford had served diligently as Editor from the very beginning. Robert F. Stahmann was appointed to assume the responsibility of Editor. 94 D. Russell Crane of BYU was appointed Associate Editor and Editorial Board members selected were Joseph L. Daly, Colorado State University, Barbara L. Fisher, Purdue University, Jayne C. Garside, BYU-Hawaii, and James C. Hurst, University of Texas. As Director of the Marriage and Family Counseling Clinic at BYU and having served in other editorial assignments, Stahmann came into the position well prepared. AMCAP officers, however, were now confronted with several challenges in the realm of publications. First of all, Don Lankford tendered his resignation as Chairman of the Publications Committee and there was now a need to seek out a new chairman. 95 There was also a concern with the insufficient number of articles which were being submitted for the AMCAP Journal, AMCAP had been committed to two Journals per year, but so far had only published one each year. Plans were initiated to make a greater attempt to solicit articles from members by enlisting the help of area coordinators as well as other AMCAP officers.96

The officers were also confronted with several other pertinent issues needing immediate attention. Among them was the problem of incorporation. The two major advantages of incorporation were that of providing greater security of AMCAP officers and the obtaining of tax deduction privileges. Plans were, therefore, initiated to draft articles of incorporation to be considered at a future meeting of the Board of Governors.⁹⁷

Another area of concern was the boycott issue having to do with the Equal Rights Amendment. AMCAP President, Burton C. Kelly, had received a number of suggestions encouraging him to send a signed petition to professional organizations that had taken official positions regarding the boycotting of non-ERA states protesting such action. The officers, however, were of a consensus that AMCAP should not take this action as an organization but rather request individual members to write letters of protest as they desired. "It was, however, unanimously reaffirmed that AMCAP is committed to taking a stand on moral issues."

With the extension of the area coordinators program it became advisable to give greater support to the coordinators. One of the challenges here was to have AMCAP officers avail themselves for visits to area meetings. It was, therefore, necessary to work out the logistics for the visits such as budget needs and responsibilities, procedures for making requests for visits, scheduling of visits and so on.⁹⁹

Several other concerns needing attention had to do with membership status, awards, and professional organiza-

tions. With regard to membership, three categories were considered: Honorary, Emeritus, and Life Membership. 100 Several awards were also considered for presentation at the annual convention. These included such awards as a service award, a professional accomplishment award, a humanitarian award, and a professional liason or Christian counseling award. 101 Finally, there was the challenge of strengthening the influence of various professional meetings. As a result of the meetings held under LDS PGA from 1964-1975, the holding of meetings at the time of the American Personnel and Guidance Association Conventions was well established. AMCAP ancillary meetings had been continued after the organization of AMCAP. Efforts, therefore, were made to hold the ancillary meetings at the conventions of the American Association of Marriage and Family Counselors and the American Psychiatric Association. A chairman for each of the ancillary meetings was to be appointed to prepare a program and conduct the meeting at the time of the respective convention. 102

Plans for the 1978 Convention

No sooner was the 1977 Convention adjourned than preparations were begun for the 1978 Convention. Richard Berrett and Gary Carson, who had been appointed co-chairmen of the convention were charged to have a proposal for the formation and content ready for a discussion for the January 1978 Executive Committee Meeting in order that it might be presented to the Governing Board in March. The theme chosen for the 1978 Convention was, "Avoid Corrupt Communication, Be Edifying". taken from Ephesians 4:29, and was to focus on the family. A pre-convention workshop was to be held during the morning of Thursday, September 28, 1978 with the official convention opening at 1:30 p.m.

The major topics to be presented centered around family systems counseling, surmounting family disruption and forgiveness. The convention would continue through Friday with the usual early morning breakfast and the business meeting as part of the program. A General Authority was again considered for the dinner meeting on the evening of the first day and also an official from the Church for the breakfast on Friday.¹⁰⁴

By May 24. 1978, the following individuals had accepted speaking and workshop assignments: Carlfred Broderick would be presenting the Pre-Convention Workshop, Lynn Scoresby the session on Family Systems Counseling, and Allen Bergen and Truman Madsen on "Integrating Professional and Religious Practices". Elder Neal Maxwell would be the speaker as the General Authority and Brother Quinn Gardner, the Church Official, to speak on forgiveness. ¹⁰⁵

The Fourth Annual Convention/Workshop

With President Burton C. Kelly presiding, the Fourth

Annual Convention/Workshop proceeded as planned with a preconvention workshop on the morning of Thursday, September 28, 1978. The four hour workshop entitled "Marital Therapy/Enrichment" was under the leadership of Carlfred Broderick, University of Southern California. The official Convention opened at 1:30 p.m. with Burton Kelly's Presidential Address. His address emphasized the 1978 Convention theme: "Avoid Corrupt Communication—Be Edifying". This was followed by Lynn Scoresby's presentation and discussion of Family Systems Counseling. The General Authority address was then delivered by Neal A. Maxwell, a member of the Presidency of the First Quorum of Seventy. 106

One of the unique features of the Fourth Annual Convention was the presentation of the first three AMCAP awards given to distinguished individuals who exemplified what the Association stands for. The first award to be presented was the Distinguished Service to Humanity Award. It was deemed appropriate that LDS Church President Spencer W. Kimball should be the recipient of this first Award. The Award was, therefore, presented at the conclusion of the afternoon session following a tribute to President Kimball by Burton C. Kelly. President Kimball was unable to be present because of a busy Conference schedule. Elder Neal A. Maxwell, therefore, accepted the Award in his behalf. During the Friday evening banquet, the Professional Liaison Award was presented to Allen Bergin along with a Citation by Henry Isaksen. The recipient of the Distinguished Service to AMCAP Award was Henry Isaksen, the immediate past president of AMCAP. This Award was also presented during the banquet with a tribute paid to Brother Isaksen by Vern Jensen.

The traditional early morning session began at 7:00 a.m. on Friday, September 29, with Brother Quinn Gardner, Managing Director of Church Welfare Services, giving the address. His topic was "Helping Others to be Forgiving and Learning to Forgive Ourselves". 107

The breakfast then followed Brother Gardner's address. For the next three hours a variety of presentations were made simultaneously in different group sessions, allowing participants the opportunity to attend two or three sessions of their choice. The topics presented in each of the sessions were related primarily to "Surmounting Family Disruptions". The presentors of the various sessions included Victor Cline, Ph.D., Professor of Clinical Psychology. University of Utah; Madison H. Thomas, M.D. Neurologist, Salt Lake City; Lewis G. Moench, M.D., Psychiatrist, University of Utah School of Medicine; Dennis Dale Ashton, M.S.D., Coordinator of Parent Program, Northern California LDS Social Services; Carl M. Rowley, M.S.W./C.S.W., Director, 'Counseling Program, Utah Valley Hospital; Charles H. Madsen, Jr., Ph.D., Professor of Psychology, Florida State University; Terrence D. Olson, Ph.D., Associate Professor of Child Development and Family Relations, BYU; Clark Swain, Ph.D., Marriage Counselor and Family Professional, Boise State University; and Keith Swain, M.S., Cancer Rehabilitation Counselor, Provo, Utah. 108

The business meeting scheduled after lunch was conducted by President Kelly. A financial report presented by Richard Heaps indicated that the organization was in excellent financial condition with a balance of \$8,783.44 (before paying convention expenses) which showed considerable progress since the time of LDS PGA and the early stages of AMCAP.

The major event occurring during the business meeting was the election of officers. When the ballot count was in, Richard D. Berrett, California State University, was now the new President-Elect with Richard W. Johnson, BYU as Secretary-Treasurer. Richard A. Heaps, BYU who had served two terms as Secretary-Treasurer was elected as a member of the Governing Board. Joe J. Christensen, Associate Commissioner of Education in the Church School System, who had previously served as President of the LDS PGA was also elected a Governing Board member. Heaps and Christensen replaced as members of the Board Don Lankford and Delbert Pearson, whose terms had expired. 109

The AMCAP policy on "Officer Visits to Meetings" which had been previously approved during the Governing Board Meeting was presented to members as another matter of business. The policy statement reads as follows:

It is the desire of AMCAP officers to be available to visit as many AMCAP area meetings as possible each year to lend support to the members. An annual visit of AMCAP officers or members of the Board of Governors to major area meetings will be encouraged. Where practical the visiting officer will be the president or president-elect.

Desires for visits of AMCAP officers during the year are to be requested by area coordinators by or before the date of the annual convention. Visits will be facilitated by planning the area meeting adjacent to, both geographically and temporally, a major professional convention and by allowing for maximum flexibility in meeting time.

The area membership is to demonstrate the desire for an AMCAP officer visit not only by making a request but also by providing a portion of the visiting officer's expenses—to be determined on an individual basis by the Executive Committee in coordination with the area coordinator.

There will be a fixed budget each year determined by the Executive Committee and approved by the Board of Governors for visits of AMCAP officers to area meetings. The officer visits, including expenses and value, will be reviewed semi-annually by the Executive Committee and Board of Governors. 110

A number of appointments were also made either at the Business meeting or at the Board of Governors meeting

held immediately following the AMCAP Convention: Carolyn Roberts, Ricks College, was appointed as a member of the Governing Board for an interim period to replace Richard Berrett, and Margaret Hoopes, BYU, was appointed to serve as the Chairman of the 1979 AMCAP convention. Henry Isaksen was also appointed AMCAP Editor for the coming year to replace Robert Stahmann. Myrle Ruesch was appointed to serve as the supervisor of the Area Coordinators and the following individuals became newly appointed Area Coordinators: Garth Eldredge, David Coombs, Scott Orrock, Jim S. Scoresby, and Darrell Hull. Italiansmuch as Vern Jensen had prepared the history of AMCAP he was appointed to serve as AMCAP Archivist. Italiansmuch as AMCAP Archivist. Italiansmuch as Vern Jensen had prepared the history of AMCAP he was appointed to serve as AMCAP Archivist. Italiansmuch as Vern Jensen had prepared the history of AMCAP he was appointed to serve as AMCAP Archivist. Italiansmuch as Vern Jensen had prepared the history of AMCAP he was appointed to serve as AMCAP Archivist. Italiansmuch as Vern Jensen had prepared the history of AMCAP he was appointed to serve as AMCAP Archivist.

As a final comment during the business meeting, President Kelly briefly enumerated some of AMCAP's accomplishments during the past year which included such items as the revision of its By-Laws, the stand taken toward professional associations which had decided to boycott states not ratifying the ERA Amendment, the appointment of new Coordinators, the writing of the History of AMCAP, the presentation of the first three AMCAP Awards, officers visits to Area Meetings, the expansion of ancillary professional meetings, progress toward articles of incorporation and the implementation of a program of Management by Objectives.

The business meeting was concluded with an address by Gary Carson in his new position as the in-coming president of the Association. This was followed by an expression of appreciation for the many contributions of AMCAP members by President Kelly.¹¹⁶

The final session of the Convention held on Friday afternoon, considered the topic of "Integrating Professional and Religious Practice". The presenters for this program were Allen Bergin, BYU, and Truman Madsen, BYU. The three discussants sharing their views on this topic were Clyde A. Parker, University of Minnesota, Victor Brown, Jr., BYU; and Carlfred Broderick, University of Southern California. 117

After Fifteen Years

Much had been accomplished since the first meeting of the LDS PGA held at San Francisco in 1964. The membership had increased from less than 100 members to well over 400 at the present time with an anticipated membership of 600 within the coming year. Those attending meetings had increased from 50 to 60 persons in the middle 60's to over 300 today. The organizational structure had evolved from a very informal type organization with a chairman serving as an only officer to a highly structured organization with executive officers, a governing board and area coordinators. During the first ten-year period there were virtually no records kept of meetings and activities, whereas during the past five years minutes of the various meetings were carefully maintained and a newsletter and journal were initiated and published on a regular basis.

While in its early years, the organization attracted very

little attention from LDS professionals engaged in counseling and psychotherapy nor from the General Authorities of the Church. As the organization developed and particularly with extensions of membership an impact was begun to be felt by both professionals and the General Authorities. Some of the events and activities which turned the tide from obscurity to recognition were the following: (1) the extension of membership beyond those who had been involved only with the American Personnel and Guidance Association; (2) the holding of the annual convention in Salt Lake City during General Conference time: (3) the invitation of General Authorities and other key Church people to speak at convention sessions and to participate in other ways; (4) the increase in the amount of publicity through the news media; (5) an increase in the number of publications; (6) an extension and clarification of AMCAP goals; and (7) the increased formal structure of the organization.

Thus, with the reorganization in 1975, the development of AMCAP has continued to gain momentum. There is considerable optimism among the members in terms of its success as a vital organization which offers Mormon counselors and psychotherapists the opportunity to combine their religious and professional lives in a meaningful way and to offer its services to the Church wherever and whenever possible.

Footnotes

- LDS Personnel and Guidance Newsletter, February 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter, Johnson to Isaksen, November 6, 1974, AMCAP Historical Files
- Letter, Isaksen to Johnson, March 24, 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Letter. Johnson to Wright, Peters, Romney, and Bergin, December 31, 1974, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Program, First Annual Convention/Workshop, October 1-2, 1975
- 6. LDS PGA Newsletter, February 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 7. LDS PGA Newsletter, February 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Questionnaire, Ballot and Proposals, February 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Proposed Constitution Changes, February 18, 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Comments from Ballot for Proposals, February 1975. AMCAP Historical Files.
- 11. Ibid
- Minutes, Ad Hoc Committee of LDS PGA, April 18, 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 13. Ibid
- Minutes, Ad Hoc Committee Meeting, May 13, 1975. AMCAP Historical Files.
- Charge to AMCAP Committee on Professional Affairs, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Minutes, Ad Hoc Committee Meeting, May 13, 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Minutes, Ad Hoc Committee Meeting, July 18, 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 18. The Herald, Provo, Utah, August 10, 1975, p. 9.
- Letter, Johnson to LDS PGA Members, July 28, 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Convention Program, AMCAP. (LDS Institute of Religion, University of Utah. October 1-2, 1975, and AMCAP Journal, October 1975. (See October 1975 AMCAP Journal for complete Convention Addresses of Carlfred Broderick, Vaughn J. Featherstone, Victor L. Brown, and G. Hugh Allred.)

- 21. Convention/Workshop Proposals, 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- AMCAP Journal, Convention Report, 1975. (See this Journal for Complete address of Victor B. Cline.)
- Letter, Lankford to Fuhriman, September 25, 1975, AMCAP Historical Files.
- AMCAP Newsletter, August 1976, pp. 2-4. 24.
- 25. Ibid., p. 8.
- 26. Ibid., p. 8.
- 27. By-Laws, AMCAP, 1976 (See Appendix B).
- 28. AMCAP Journal, Convention Report October 1975.
- Minutes Ad Hoc Executive Committee of AMCAP. 29
- AMCAP Newsletter, August 1976.
- Minutes, Ad Hoc Executive Committee, June 17, 1976.
- 32 Minutes, Ad Hoc Executive Committee, March 4, 1976.
- 33. Minutes, Ad Hoc Executive Committee, July 15, 1976.
- 34 Minutes, Ad Hoc Executive Meeting, June 17, 1976.
- Program Announcement, Fall 1976 Convention, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 36. Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, January 28,
- Minutes, Ad Hoc Executive Committee Meeting, July 15, 1976.
- Minutes, Ad Hoc Executive Committee Meeting, August 1976. AMCAP Newsletter, Spring 1977.
- 41. Minutes, Governing Board Meeting, December 28, 1976.
- 42. AMCAP Newsletter, Spring 1977.
- 43. AMCAP Journal, Fall 1976 AMCAP Convention. (See the Fall 1976 AMCAP Journal for the addresses of Henry B. Eyring, Wendall J. Ashton and Hartman Rector, Jr.)
- 44.
- 45. Convention Program, Second Annual Convention/Workshop September 29-30, 1976.
- AMCAP Newsletter, August 1976.
- 47. See Appendix B.
- 48. Ibid.
- 49. AMCAP Journal, Fall 1976, AMCAP Convention, pp. 5-6.
- 50. Letter, McConkie to Wright, October 15, 1976, AMCAP Historical Files
- 51. The Salt Lake Tribune. September 30, 1976, p. 14A.
- 52. Letter, Ashton To Wright, October 11, 1976, AMCAP Historical Files.
- 53. Letter, Kirton, McConkie, Boyer, & Boyle to Isaksen, February 3. 1977, AMCAP Historical Files.
- AMCAP Newsletter, Spring 1977.
- Letter, Isaksen to McConkie, Jr., February 2, 1977, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Meeting, December 3, 1976.
- AMCAP Newsletter, Spring 1977.
- AMCAP Proposed Editorial Policy, September 29, 1977, AMCAP
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Meeting, December 3, 1976, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Minutes, AMCAP Governing Board Meeting, December 28. 1976, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Meeting, December 3, 1976, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Meeting, December 28, 1976. AMCAP Historical Files.
- 63. Letter, Heaps to colleagues, December 27, 1976.
- 64. Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee, January 27, 1977.
- 65. AMCAP Newsletter (Attachment: Nominations and Elections of Officers for 1977-1978) Spring 1977-1978.
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting and Editorial Board (Statement by E. Wayne Wright), March 4, 1977.
- 67. Minutes, AMCAP Executive Meeting and Editorial Board, March 4, 1977.
- Minutes, AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, April 1, 1977
- Minutes, AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, April 1, 1977.
- Minutes, AMCAP Governing Board Meeting, June 17, 1977.
- Letter, Cline to Isaksen, August 1, 1977, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Meeting and Editorial Board, March 4, 1977.

- 73. AMCAP Governing Board Meeting, June 17, 1977.
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, August 5, 1977.
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, September 9.
- Minutes, AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, April 1, 1977. 76.
- 77. Letter, Cline and Ruesch to Isaksen, February 4, 1977.
- Minutes, AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, April 1, 1977, p.
- Minutes, AMCAP Governing Board Meeting, June 17, 1977, and Letter, Kimball to Cline, May 27, 1977.
- AMCAP Journal, Winter 1978, Vol. 4, Issue 1, pp. 10-12. (See the Winter 1978 AMCAP Journal for the addresses of Marvin J. Ashton and Allen E. Bergin.)
- 81. Ibid, pp. 3-9.
- Report of Third Annual AMCAP Convention, September 29-30. 1977, AMCAP Historical Files
- 83. AMCAP Newsletter, Fall 1977, p. 3.
- Program, AMCAP Third Annual Convention/Workshop, September 29-30, 1977.
- Report of the Third Annual AMCAP Convention, September 29-30, 1977, AMCAP Historical Files.
- Minutes, AMCAP Governing Board Meeting, June 17, 1977.
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, August 5, 1977.
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee and Board Meeting, 88. September 29, 1977.
- 89. Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, June 21, 1978.
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, October 13,
- 90. Minutes. AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, October 13, 1977.
- 91. Minutes, AMCAP Governing Board Meeting, September 31, 1977
- Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, October 13, 1977 and February 2, 1978.
- 93. Minutes, AMCAP Governing Board Meeting, September 30, 1977.
- 94. AMCAP Newsletter, Fall 1977, p. 6.
- 95. Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, March 31, 1978.
- AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, March 31, 1978, p. 3.
- 97 AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, March 31, 1978, p. 3.
- 98. Minutes. AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, March 31, 1978.
- 99 Ibid., p. 2.
- 100. Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, January 3. 1978, p. 1.
- 101. Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, February 2, 1976, p. 1.
- 102. Minutes. AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, March 31, 1978,
- 103. Minutes, AMCAP Committee Meeting, October 13, 1977.
- 104. Minutes, AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting. March 31, 1978. pp. 4-5.
- 105. Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, May 24, 1978, p. 2.
- 106. Convention program, Fourth Annual Convention/Workshop, September 28-29, 1978. (Addresses of the above will be printed in the AMCAP Journal.)
- 107. Ibid
- 108. Ibid.
- 109. Minutes, AMCAP Business Meeting, September 29, 1978.
- 110. Minutes, AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, September 28. 1978
- 111. Minutes, AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, September 29, 1978.
- 112. Minutes, AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, September 28,
- 113. Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, June 1, 1978.
- 114. Minutes, AMCAP Board of Governors Meeting, September 28.
- 115. Minutes, AMCAP Executive Committee Meeting, August 4, 1978.
- 116. Minutes, AMCAP Business Meeting, September 29, 1978.
- 117. Convention program, Fourth Annual Convention, September 28-29, 1978.

APPENDIX A

CONSTITUTION LDS PERSONNEL AND GUIDANCE ASSOCIATION

Constitution of the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association

Article I - NAME

The name of this Association shall be the L.D.S. Personnel and Guidance Association.

Article II - PURPOSE

The general purposes of this Association shall be to promote leadership and fellowship, foster communication, enhance professional development, and promote a forum for professional personnel and guidance workers whose common bond is that of membership or interest in the ideals and goals fostered by the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints.

Article III - MEMBERSHIP

Any member of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints or any interested non-member or graduate student, whose primary professional responsibilities and interests are in the area of counseling, guidance, or personnel work shall be eligible for membership in the Association.

Article IV - OFFICERS

The elected officers of this Association shall be the President, President-Elect, and the Secretary-Treasurer who shall constitute the Executive Committee.

Article V - ELECTION AND TERMS OF OFFICE

Section 1.

Elected officers shall assume office at the conclusion of

Section 1.

Elected officers shall assume office at the conclusion of the annual meeting of the Association and shall serve for a period of approximately one year until their successors are elected. All officers shall be members in good standing of the L.D.S. Personnel and Guidance Association and their own professional national organization.

Section 2.

The President-Elect shall automatically become President of the Association at the conclusion of the term of office or upon the death or resignation of the President.

Section 3.

The Executive Committee shall appoint an Elections Committee to select candidates, prepare ballots and conduct the election.

Article VI - DUTIES OF OFFICERS

Section 1.

The President shall be the chief elected officer of the Association, and shall be chairman of and preside at meetings of the Executive Committee.

Section 2.

The President-Elect shall perform the duties of the President in the absence, incapacity, or at the request of the President.

Section 3.

The Secretary-Treasurer shall keep the records of the Association including a permanent record of the proceedings of all meetings. He shall receive all dues and money and shall disburse the same on order of the Executive Committee. He shall make a financial report at the annual meeting of the Association and shall perform such other duties as usually devolve upon this office. He shall maintain a roster of members of the Association.

Section 4.

The Executive Committee shall constitute the membership committee to review and pass upon applications for membership and to provide necessary materials and procedures for applying for membership.

Article VII - MEETINGS OF THE ASSOCIATION

The annual meeting of the Association shall be under the direction of the Executive Committee, and shall be held at the time of the annual National Convention of the American Personnel and Guidance Association, or at such time as might be determined by the Executive Committee.

Article VIII - COMMITTEES

Committees of the Association may be created to promote the purposes of the Association. The President can, with the approval of the Executive Committee, determine the nature of such committees and shall appoint their membership.

Article IV - PUBLICATIONS

The Executive Committee shall promote an official publication for the Association. Initially this may be correspondence, a newsletter and/or proceedings of the annual meeting prepared by the President and the Secretary-Treasurer.

Article X - DUES AND SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS

Section 1.

Annual dues shall be set by the Executive Committee to the approval of the members in the annual meeting of the Association.

Section 2.

The Executive Committee may set special, temporary assessments for specific projects if in their best judgment such action is desirable. These assessments are also subject to approval in the annual meeting.

1/2

Article XI - BY-LAWS

By-laws consistent with this constitution shall be adopted or amended from time to time as deemed necessary by the membership of the Association.

Article XII - AMENDMENTS

This Constitution may be amended by the affirmative vote, by mail, of a majority of the members of the Association, actually voting. Copies of the proposed amendments shall be made available to all members of the Association at least 30 days prior to a meeting of the Association.

APPENDIX B BY-LAWS

Association of Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists

Adopted September 30, 1976 Amended Fall 1977

Article I - NAME AND PURPOSE

Section 1. *Name*. The name of this Association shall be the Association of Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists.

Section 2. Purpose. The purpose of this Association shall be:

- a) To promote fellowship, foster communication, enhance personal and professional development, and promote a forum for counselors and psychotherapists whose common bond is membership in and adherence to the principles and standards of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, both in their personal lives and professional practice.
- b) To encourage members and assist them in their efforts to provide leadership in stemming the tide of materialism, amorality and immorality that threatens to engulf their various other professional organizations and the society at large.

Article II - MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. General. Any person whose primary professional responsibilities and/or interest are in the area of counseling and psychotherapy shall be eligible for membership in the Association.

Section 2. Types of Membership. The Association shall include three types of membership: professional, student, and associate.

Section 3. Requirements for Membership.

- a) Professional. The member must have reached a professional level of training in one of the branches of counseling or psychotherapy, be a member of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints and be willing to declare his/her commitment to the principles and standards of the Church, both in his/her personal life and professional practice.
- Student. The member must be engaged in a program of professional training in counseling or psychotherapy and be otherwise eligible as in (a) above.
- c) Associate. An associate member need not be a member of the Church or of the counseling-psychotherapy profession, but must subscribe to the purpose of the Association. He/she may not vote or hold office.

Section 4. Sustaining Member Designation. Any person who qualifies for one of the above types of membership who makes a substantial financial contribution fo the Association will be eligible for the designation "Sustaining Member".

Section 5. Loss of Membership. A person's membership may be terminated by action of the Governing Board for failure to pay dues or for behavior not in keeping with the state purpose of and requirements for membership in the Association. Any member against whom such action is taken shall have the opportunity of a full hearing before the Governing Board.

Article III OFFICERS & GOVERNING BOARD

Section 1. Officers. The officers of this Association shall be President, President-Elect, Past-President, and Secretary-Treasurer. These elected officials shall constitute the Executive Committee.

Section 2. Governing Board. The elected officers and six elected Governors shall constitute the Governing Board.

Section 3. Eligibility to Hold Office. All Officers and Governors shall be members in good standing of AMCAP.

Article IV - ELECTION AND TERMS OF OFFICE

Section 1. Election of Officers. The election of the President-Elect and the Secretary-Treasurer and two Governors shall take place at the business meeting of the annual convention.

Section 2. Succession to the Presidency. The President-Elect shall automatically become President of the Association at the conclusion of the term of office or upon the death or resignation of the President. At the same time, the President shall become the Past-President except in the case of his/her death or resignation, in which case the position shall remain unfilled.

Section 3. Terms of Office. The President, President-Elect, Past-President, Secretary-Treasurer and Governors shall assume office at the conclusion of the annual meeting of the Association and shall serve for a period of approximately one year until their successors are elected, except for Governors, who will each serve three years on a rotating basis. The year of adoption of these By-Laws, two will be elected for a one-year term, and two for a three-year term.

Section 4. *Election Procedures*. The Executive Committee shall appoint an Elections Committee to select candidates, prepare ballots and conduct the election.

Article V - DUTIES OF OFFICERS

Section 1. Duties of President. The President shall be the chief elected officer of the Association, and shall be chairman of and preside at meetings of the Executive Committee, the Governing Board and of the members. He shall also appoint the members of standing and ad hoc committees and shall appoint a Governor to serve as Historian.

Section 2. Duties of President-Elect. The President-Elect shall perform the duties of the President in his absence or incapacity, or at the request of the President.

Section 3. Duties of Past-President. The Past-President shall serve as a member of the Executive Committee and Governing Board for one year following the completion of his term as President.

Section 4. Duties of Secretary-Treasurer. The secretary Treasurer shall keep the records of the Association, including a permanent record of the proceedings of all meetings. He shall receive all dues and money and shall disburse the same on order of the Executive Committee. He shall make a financial report at the annual meeting of the Association and shall perform such other duties as devolve upon this office. He shall maintain a roster of members of the Association.

Section 5. Duties of Governing Board. The Governing Board will serve as a policy-making body on matters affecting programs of the Association, such policies to be approved by the membership at the business meeting of the next annual convention.

Section 6. Duties of the Executive Committee. The Executive Committe shall carry out the business of the Association under the direction of the Governing Board.

Article VI - MEETINGS

Section 1. Meetings of the Association. The annual meeting of the Association shall be under the direction of the

Section 1. Meetings of the Association. The annual meeting of the Association shall be under the direction of the Governing Board and shall be held immediately preceding October General Conference of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, or at such other time as might be determined by the Governing Board. Meetings of members of the Association in a given geographic area shall be held as desired under the direction of an area coordinator appointed by the President.

Section 2. Meetings of the Executive Committee and Governing Board. The Executive Committee and Governing Board shall meet at such times and places as determined by the President or at the request of at least half of the members of either group.

Section 3. Conduct of Meetings. Meetings shall be conducted according to Robert's Rules of Order.

Article VII - COMMITTEES

Section 1. Appointment. Committees may be created to promote the purpose of the Association. The President can, with the approval of the Governing Board, determine the nature of such committees and shall appoint their membership.

Section 2. Standing Committees. The Standing Committees of the Association shall be:

- Elections, to be chaired by the Past-President or, if this position is not filled, by another member of the Governing Board.
- Membership, to be chaired by a member of the Governing Board.
- Publications, to be chaired by a member of the Governing Board.
- d) Convention, to be chaired by a member of the Governing Board.

Section 3. Ad Hoc Committees. Such other committee, as may be deemed necessary or desirable may be appointed by the President on an ad hoc basis.

Article VIII - PUBLICATIONS

Section 1. *Kind and Number*. The Association shall publish one or more official publications.

Section 2. Publication Committee. A standing Publications Committees shall recommend to the Executive Committee the kind, nature, number, content, and frequency of publications to be sponsored by the Association.

Section 3. Editorial Board(s). For each publication the President shall appoint, with the approval of the Governing Board, an Editor and such members of an Editorial board as may be deemed advisable.

Article IX - DUES, SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS & FISCAL YEAR

Section 1. Dues. Annual dues shall be set by the Governing Board subject to the approval of the members in the annual meeting of the Association and shall include subscriptions to the Newsletter and the Journal.

Section 2. Assessments. The Executive Committee may set special, temporary assessments for specific projects if in their best judgment such action is desirable. These assessments are also subject to approval in the annual meeting.

Section 3. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Association shall be from October 16 to October 15.

Article X - AMENDMENTS

These By-laws may be amended by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Association actually voting, with by mail or in the business meeting of the annual convention. Copies of the proposed amendments shall be made available to all members of the Association at least 30 days prior to the meeting at which time such a vote will be taken, or 30 days prior to the date when the ballot must be postmarked if returned by mail.

APPENDIX C

Officers Of LDS Personnel and Guidance Association

and

Association of Mormon Counselors and Psychotherapists

CHAIRMEN and PRESIDENTS of the LDS Personnel and Guidance Association

	7	Term of	Place of Annual
Names		Office	Meeting
Joseph C. Bentley	Chairman	1963-64	San Francisco
Clyde A. Parker	Chairman	1964-65	Minneapolis
Henry L. Isaksen	Chairman	1965-66	Washington D.C.
Dean C. Andrew	Chairman	1966-67	Dallas
Joe J. Christensen	Chairman	1967-68	Detroit
Joe J. Christensen	President	1968-69	Las Vegas
P. Wendell Johnson	President	1969-70	New Orleans
Alan R. Anderson	Président	1970-71	Atlantic City
Addie J. Furhiman	President	1971-72	Chicago
Joseph L. Daly	President	1972-73	San Diego
Norma Rohde	President	1973-74	New Orleans
Lynn Eric Johnson	President	1974-75	New York City and
			Salt Lake City
			MCADA

Presidents and Secretary-Treasurers of AMCAP

President	Secretary-Treasurer	Term of Office
E. Wayne Wright	Gary L. Carson	1975-76
Henry L. Isaksen	Richard A. Heaps	1976-77
Burton C. Kelly	Richard A. Heaps	1977-78
Gary Carson	Richard W. Johnson	1978-79

AMCAP Board of Governors

Board Member	Term Began	Term Expired or Expires
Victor B. Cline	1976	1977
Margaret H. Hoopes	1976	1977
Don Lankford	1976	1978
Delbert P. Pearson	1976	1978
Richard D. Berrett	1976	1979
Myrle Ruesch	1976	1979
Margaret H. Hoopes	1977	1980
LeRoy E. Porter	1977	1980
Joe J. Christensen	1978	1981
Richard A. Heaps	1978	1981

AMCAP Area Coordinators

as of September 1978

ARIZONA

Mr. Larry D. Draughon 1537 E. McLellan Mesa, Arizona 85203

ARIZONA (Four Corners Area) Scott Orrock Page Public Schools Page, Arizona 86040

CALIFORNIA (Central)
J. Richard Fletcher
5582 Abington Drive
Newark, California 94560

CALIFORNIA (Southern)
Richard Bashaw
13642 Sproule Avenue
Sylmar, California 91342

CENTRAL ATLANTIC STATES
Albert Dean Byrd
LDS Social Services
2 Research Place, Suite 101
Rockville, Maryland 20850

COLORADO AND EASTERN WYOMING

Weston H. Morrill C-52 Social Science Bldg. Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado 80523

HAWAII

Jayne C. Garside Director, Counselor Education BYU-Hawaii Campus Laie, Oahu, Hawaii 96762

IDAHO

Richard Dean Yancey 948 Henderson Drive Blackfoot, Idaho 83221

NEW ENGLAND STATES

E. Brent Frazier 491 Amherst Street Nashua, New Hampshire 03060

NORTH CENTRAL STATES

Alice T. Clark, Co-coord. Dean, Graduate School University of North Dakota 622 East 23rd Avenue, South Grand Forks, North Dakota 58201

NORTH CENTRAL STATES

Lynn Scott Johnson, Co-coord. 844 James Ave., S.W. East Grand Forks, Minnesota 56721

NORTH WESTERN STATES

Gilbert J. Kocherhans Seminaries & Institutes of Religion West 2703 Dell Drive Spokane, Washington 99208

SOUTH CENTRAL STATES

James Hurst
Dean of Students
101 Speech Building
University of Texas at Austin
Austin, Texas 78712

SOUTH EASTERN STATES

Charles Madsen, Jr. Dept. of Psychology Florida State University Tallahassee, Florida 32306

UTAH (Northern)
E. Wayne Wright
383 North 4th West
Logan, Utah 84321

UTAH (Southern)

Garth Allred Seminaries & Institutes of Religion Dixie College St. George, Utah 84770 UTAH (Salt Lake and Environs)
Bonnie Gustafson, Co-coord.
2207 Berkeley Street
Salt Lake City, Utah 84109

Victor Cline, Co-coord. University of Utah Salt Lake City, Utah 84112

UTAH (Utah Valley and Environs) Ron Bingham 259 McKay Building Brigham Young University Provo, Utah 84602

A	D
Ad Hoc Committee, 11, 12, 13, 14-16 Allred, Garth, 20, 30 Allred, G. Hugh, 14 American Association of Marriage and Family Counselors, 11, 13, 21 American Personnel and Guidance Association (APGA), 4, 5, 13, 15, 19, 21 American Psychiatric Association, 11, 13, 21 American Psychological Association, 11, 13, 21 Anderson, Alan R., 7, 29 Andrew, Dean C., 5, 6, 29 Appendix A - Constitution LDS PGA, 25, 26 Appendix B - By-Laws, AMCAP, 26-28 Appendix B - Officers, 20, 20	Dallas, APGA Convention, 5, 6 Daly, Joseph, 8, 21, 29 Dangerfield, David, 20 Detroit APGA Convention, 6 Diamond, Edward, 6 Directory of Members. (See Roster of Members) Disclaimer, 17, 18 Dollar, Robert J., 5 Droughan, Larry D., 16, 29 Dues, Annual, 15, 16, 18, 20 Durham, Christine, 20
Appendix C - Officers, 29, 30 Area Coordinators, 14, 15, 16, 20, 21, 22, 29 Ashton, Dale, 22	Early Beginnings, 4, 5
Ashton, Marvin J., 7, 20 Ashton, Wendall J., 16, 17, 21-23 Awards, 21-23	Editorial Board. 15, 17, 18 Editorial Policy, 17, 18 Egan, Merritt, 16 Eighth Annual LDS PGA, 7
В	Eldredge, Garth, 23 Election Committee, 13, 18, 21 Election Appendix DE PGA Conference 8
Ballot For Proposals, 9, 11, 12 Barr, Ellen, 14 Berrett, Richard D., 16, 20, 21, 22, 23, 29 Bashaw, Richard, 16, 29 Battner, Robert L., 14 Bennion, Lowell, 16 Bentley, Joseph C., 4, 5, 16, 29	Eleventh Annual LDS PGA Conference, 8 Enthusiasm, Increase in, 8-9 Equal Rights Amendment, 21 Executive Committee, AMCAP, 11, 14, 15, 17, 18, 21, 29 Expansion, A Name to Reflect (See also Titles and also Growth and Expansion), 12, 13, 14, 15 Eyring, Henry B., 16
Berg, O. Kent, 11 Bergin, Allen, 11, 20, 21, 22, 23 Bindhap, Bondd D. 11, 13, 30	F
Bingham, Ronald D., 11, 13, 30 Black, Courtney, 20 Board, Governing (See Governing Board) Boland, Danial M., 16 Boycott Issue, 21 Breakfast, LDS PGA, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11 Broderick, Carlfred, 13, 14, 21, 22, 23 Brown, Flodie Lucretia, 15, 17 Brown, Harold, 20 Brown, Victor, Jr., 8, 11, 14, 23 Burr, Wesley R., 5 By-Laws, AMCAP, 15, 16, 17, 18, 23, 26-28 Byrd, Albert D., 16, 29	Facing New Challenges, 20, 21 Featherstone, Vaughn J., 14 Fifteen Years, After, 23 Fifth Annual LDS PGS Conference, Financial Statement, 8 Fireside, LDS PGA, 6, 7 First Annual Convention, AMCAP, 11, 12-15 First Annual LDS PGA Conference, 4 Fisher, Barbara L., 21 Fletcher, J. Richard, 16, 29 Fourth Annual Convention, AMCAP, 21, 22 Fourth Annual LDS PGA Conference, 22, 23 Frazier, E. Brent, 16, 29 Fuhriman, Addie J., 7, 8, 14, 29
Card, Robert D., 14	G
Carson, Gary. 11. 13, 14, 15, 20, 21, 23, 29 Challenges, Facing New (See Facing New Challenges) Checketts, Keith, 6 Chicago APGA Convention 1972, 7, 8 Christensen, Harold T., 6 Christensen, Joe J., 4, 5, 6, 7, 11, 22, 29 Christensen, Julie, 20 Church Law Department, LDS, 17	Gardner, Quinn, 21-22 Garside, Jayne C., 16, 21, 29 Governing Board, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21 Growth and Expansion, 20, 21 Gustafeson, Bonnie, 20, 14
Church Law Department, LDS, 17 Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, 4, 6, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 22. Church Public Communications, Department, LDS, 17 Clark, Alice T., 16, 29 Clark, Selby G., 4 Cline, Victor, 4, 5, 11, 12, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 28 Conference Planning, 12, 13 Constitution, LDS PGA, 6, 7, 8, 15, 22, 23 Continuing Education Credit, 19 Convention (APGA), 4, 5 Coombs, David, 23 Craig, Wesley C., 17 Crane, D. Russell, 21	Hardy, Kenneth, 1 Harvey, Paul, 15 Heaps, Richard A., 16, 18, 20, 22 Hepworth, Dean, 20 Herald, Provo, 13 Hickman, Louine, 7 Historian, 20 Hoopes, Margaret, 8, 16, 17, 20, 23, 29 Hurst, James, 8, 16, 21, 29 Hyer, Grant, 16 Hull, Darrell, 23

I

Incorporation, 21 Increase in Enthusiasm (See Enthusiasm, Increase in) Internal Revenue Service, 19 Isaksen, Henry L., 4, 5, 6, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 29

J

Jensen, Vern H., 4, 5, 6, 7 Johnson, Bethesda T., 7 Johnson, Lynn Eric, 7, 8-11, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 29 Johnson, Lynn S., 29 Johnson, P. Wendell, 6, 7, 29 Journal, AMCAP, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 21, 22 Johnson, Richard W., 22, 29

K

Kelly, Burton C., 5, 6, 7, 16, 18, 20, 21, 22, 23, 29 Kimball, Spencer W., 4, 19, 22 Kocherhans, Gilbert, 20, 29

L

Lambert, Michael, 9
Lankford, Donald, 11, 15, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 22, 29
LaPray, Tony, 20
Las Vegas APGA Convention, 6
LDS Helping Professionals, 11, 12
LDS Personnel and Guidance Association, 4, 5, 12
Lindsey, Irv, 14
Lloyd, David, 5

M

McConkie, Oscar, 17
Madsen, Charles, 20, 22, 30
Madsen, Truman, 21, 23
Maxwell, Neal A., 8, 22
Membership and membership categories (Also see Roster of Members), 18, 20, 21
Mink, Oscar G., 5
Minneapolis, APGA Convention, 4
Miracle of Forgiueness, 14
Moench, Lewis G., 22
Morrill, Weston, 4, 20, 29
Morris, Ramona, 8
Moss, J. Joel, 16
Murdock, Maxine, 16

N

National Association of Social Workers, 13
National Council on Family Relations, 11, 21
New Orleans APGA 1970 Convention, 7
New Orleans APGA 1974 Convention, 8
Newsletter, AMCAP, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 21, 22
Newsletter, LDS PGA, 9, 11, 12
New York APGA Convention, 1975, 9
Ninth Annual LDS PGA Conference, 8
Nominations Committee (See Elections Committee)
Norton, Don E., 4, 5

0

Olson, Terrence D., 14, 22 Operation, Putting Plan Into (See Putting Plan Into Operation) Organizational Structure, 6-8 Orrock, Scott, 29 Oviatt, Moyne, 16

P

Packard, Ralph E., 5, 6 Packer, Boyd K., 7 Parker, Clyde A., 4-6, 8, 23, 29 Payne, I. Reed, 6, 15, 17 Pearson, Delbert, 16, 20, 22, 29
Peters, Robert, 9, 11, 12
Petty Larue, 14
Porter, Blaine C., 20
Porter, LeRoy E., 20, 29
Professional Affairs Committee, 13, 14
Publication Committee, 18, 21
Putting Plan into Operation, 14-17

F

Reaching Solutions With the Church, 17
Rector, Hartman Rector, Jr., 16
Redd, Mason, 20
Reid, Howard, T., 5
Reorganization - LDS PGA to AMCAP - 11-14
Roberts, Carolyn, 23
Robertson, Heber, 20
Rohde, Norma, 8, 29
Romney, Antone K., 11
Roster of Members, 15, 16, 18
Rounding Out the Organization, 17, 18,
Rowley, Carl M., 22
Ruesch, McLaren, 20
Ruesch, Myrle, 16, 18, 19, 23, 29

S

Salt Lake Tribune, 17 San Diego APGA Convention, 8 San Francisco APGA Convention, 4, 5 Scoresby, Jim S., 23 Scoresby, Lynn, 8, 21, 22 Second Annual Convention, AMCAP. 16 Second Annual LDS PGA Conference, 4, 5 Seventh Annual LDS PGA Conference, 7 Sill, Sterling W., 9 Simpson, Robert L., 8 Sixth Annual LDS PGA Conference, 7 Smith, William L., 5 Stahmann, Robert, 21, 23 Stewart, Robert M., 6 Stone, Joyce B., 4 Strengthening the Organization, 18-20 Swain, Clark, 22 Swain, Keith, 22

Т

Tanner, Elvin, 16
Tenth Annual LDS PGA Conference, 8
Third Annual Convention, AMCAP, 19, 20
Third LDS PGA Annual Conference, 5
Thomas, Madison H., 22
Tingey, Dale T., 5
Titles, Organizational Titles and Names, 5, 12, 17
Tracy, Elaine M., 6
Transition, A Period of, 11, 12
Twelfth Annual LDS PGA Conference, 9
Tyler, Jan L., 11, 15, 16
Tyler, Lynn, 15, 17

W

Washington D.C., APGA Convention, 5 Worsley, Klea, 5 Wright, E. Wayne, 4, 8, 9, 11, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 20, 29, 30

Y

Yancey, Richard D., 16, 29